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SESSION TITLE:  Introduction to Certification Audit;  Accounting 

Concepts and Accrual Based Accounting System 
Session Guide 

INSTRUCTORôS GUIDE Reference 
Participantsô 

Response 

SESSION OVERVIEW   

Welcome participants to the session and remind 

them that their active participation is critical for the 

success of each session. 

Tell them that this session is an introductory session 

where Certification Audit; Accounting Concepts and 

Accrual Based Accounting System in respect of 

ULBs will be discussed briefly. 

Lecture  

BASIC CONCEPT   

Introduce participants to the Accounting Concept, 

Entity Concept, Money Measurement Concept, Cost 

Concept, Accrual Concept, Capital and Revenue 

Expenditure Concept, Income and Expenditure 

Concept, Accounting Principles, Principle of 

Materiality, Principle of Consistency, Accrual, 

Double Entry System of Accounting,  

Introduce participants to the Benefits of Accrual 

System of Accounting, difference between Single 

Entry Cash Basis and Double Entry Accrual Basis of 

Accounting, basic rules of Accounting. 

Introduce participants to the Accounting Principles 

of Accrual Based Accounting System. 

¶ Lecture 

¶  SESSION 1 

PowerPoint 

Presentation 

 

APPLICATION    

Distribute Exercise ï Session 1 among participants; 

Issue instruction for time allowed writing answer 

with individually effort; 

Discuss the answers after expiry of allowed time. 

Distribute Participantsô Note 

¶ Exercise ï 

Session 1 
 

SUMMARISE    

Summarise the session with the mention of topics 

discussed during the session. 
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SESSION TITLE   

Title: Certification Audit ï an introduction; Accounting Concepts and Principle; 

Introduction to Accrual Based Accounting System 

LEARNING OBJECTIVE:  

At the end of the session the participants will be able to: 

Understand the meaning of Accounting Concepts and Principles and basic rules of 

Accounting. 

Understand the meaning as well as benefits of Accrual Based Accounting System. 

SESSION OVERVIEW 

The Accounting Concepts and Accounting Principles have been developed over the 

years from experience, reason, usage and necessity and are generally accepted for accounting 

of transactions and preparation of Financial Statements. These concepts and Principles 

govern the way transactions are accounted. This session introduces the participants to the 

meaning of Certification Audit, Accounting Concepts and Principles and explains its 

significance in the context of Accrual Based Accounting System. The basic rules of Accrual 

Based Accounting are also discussed in this session. 

CERTIFICATION AUDIT  

Certification Audit refers to an independent Auditorôs opinion on the reliability of 

some assertions made by the audited entity (here Municipality). The opinion given by the 

Auditor could be on the financial statements prepared by the entity or part of a financial 

statement like certifying certain expenditure figure alone. In the present context, 

óCertification Auditô means an Auditorôs opinion on the financial statements i.e. Balance 

Sheets, Income and Expenditure Account etc. 

During the course of certification audit of financial statements, the Auditor would 

check whether the statements present a true and fair view of the financial position of the 

auditee entity on the Balance Sheet date, results of its working during the period ending with 

Balance Sheet date and also ensure that requirements as stated in local or national laws, 

legislative requirements etc. have been followed while preparing and presenting the financial 

statements.  This implies that the auditors should be well conversant with the accounting 

procedures involved in preparation of financial statements. So, in this training we will discuss 

the present accounting system followed by the municipalities of West Bengal, accounting 

principles, understanding Balance Sheet and audit of financial statements. 
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BACKGROUND  

The Eleventh Finance Commission (EFC) had expressed concern over the 

maintenance of accounts of local bodies and their audit. The Commission recommended that 

in view of an unsatisfactory system of accounts and audit with accounting formats not 

reflecting the changing realities and the lack of trained staff, the system of accounting and 

auditing needed improvement under the close supervision of the CAG. This was considered 

necessary in view of the far-reaching Constitutional amendment that empowered local 

governments both administratively and fiscally requiring the question of accountability of 

these institutions to be addressed on priority. 

Based on the EFC recommendations and after issue of Ministry of Finance, 

Guidelines on utilization of EFC grants of 2001, CAG was entrusted with Technical 

Guidance & Supervision/Support (TGS) over the maintenance of accounts of local bodies and 

their audit, including providing technical guidance to the Director of Local Fund Audit 

(DLFA) in a majority of the States where 73rd and 74th amendments are applicable. 

However, the primary Audit of PRIs and ULBs are conducted by the Comptroller & Auditor 

General of India in states of West Bengal, Bihar and Jharkhand. 

States which have entrusted Audit/Technical Guidance and Support to C&AG: 

Sl. No.  Name of state Sl. No.  Name of state Sl. No.  Name of state 

1  Andhra Pradesh 9 Maharashtra 17 West Bengal 

2  Assam 10  Manipur 18  Gujarat 

3  Bihar 11 Orissa 19 Goa 

4  Himachal Pradesh 12  Rajasthan*   

5 Jharkhand 13 Sikkim   

6. Karnataka# 14  Tripura   

7 Kerala 15 Uttar Pradesh   

8  Madhya Pradesh 16  Uttaranchal   

*Rajasthan Act provides for test check of PRI by AG. 

#In Karnataka the 1stand 2nd tiers of PRIs are entrusted for audit to CAG u/s 19(3) of DPC Act 

 

States which have partially entrusted Audit/ Technical guidance and Support to C&AG : 

SI.NO  Name of the States 

1 Chhattisgarh 

2  Haryana 

3 Tamil Nadu 

States which have not entrusted Audit/ technical guidance and Support to C&AG: 

Sl No. Name of the States 

1  Arunachal Pradesh 

2  Punjab 

* 73rd and 74th Amendments are not applicable in J&K, Meghalaya, Nagaland & Mizoram 
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The parameters of TGS to the DLFA include assistance by CAG in adopting the 

auditing standards, audit planning, improved audit methodologies and professional training; 

besides supplementing the audit done by the Local Fund Audit Department to ensure proper 

certification of accounts and, thereby enhance its quality. To fulfil the TGS mandate, the 

CAG has prescribed accounts and budget formats for PRls, accrual accounting system for 

ULBs, auditing standards, guidelines for certification audit, a list of codes for programmes, 

functions and activities to facilitate classification of accounts. 

While providing Technical Guidance and Support to the DLFA, CAG's audit expected 

to reflect qualitatively higher concerns for cost, efficiency and performance in respect of the 

schemes that the Panchayats manage, in contrast to the DLFA's concerns, which generally 

legalistic and focus more on observance of financial rules or government orders. CAG's audit, 

besides touching on these issues by way of a supplementary check of the work of DLFA, 

would essentially focus on performance issues. However, taking cognisance of the large scale 

devolution of finances and functions to institutions of local self governance without an 

adequate institutional mechanism and the concomitant risks flowing there from, CAGôs audit 

has also retained audit checks necessary to focus on the more traditional audit concerns 

relating to fraud and corruption. Subversion of internal controls in the local bodies leading 

fraud, corruption, misappropriation and mismanagement of funds has been reported in CAGôs 

audit. Strengthening internal controls aimed at institutionalising financial management and 

accounting best practices and systems as also capacity building within these institutions has 

been recommended. 

CAGôs audit provides the necessary audit assurance on the accounting of public 

funds, absence of fraud, as also efficiency in usage of funds and fulfillment of the larger 

objectives of decentralisation. The system of TGS strengthens the quality of accounts of local 

bodies besides improving the credibility of the accounts and audit of local bodies, leading 

ultimately to greater accountability of these institutions. The training programmes and 

supervision by CAG as part of TGS help in capacity building and improving the expertise of 

the Examiner Local Fund Audit. 

A Task Force was constituted in February, 2002 by Comptroller and Auditor General 

of India (CAG) to recommend budget and accounting formats for Urban Local Bodies 

(ULBs) in India, as per 11th Finance Commission recommendation. The CAG Task Force 

issued a óReport on Accounting and Budget Formats for ULBsô (report was submitted in 



Session 1 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 6 

December, 2002). The Task Force report covered Budget and Accounting Formats and 

Significant Accounting Principles, Cost of important utilities and services and MIS reports. 

Government of India accepted the Task Force Report and forwarded the same to the State 

Governments for implementation in April 2003. The CAG of India with USAID - FIRE (D) 

support, prepared a model National Accounting Manual which has been provided to the state 

governments by Ministry of Urban Development. Based on this, various states along with 

Government of West Bengal have developed state municipal accounting manual according to 

their specific requirements. 

Based on the National Accounting Manual prepared by the C&AG of India, 

Government of West Bengal has introduced Accrual Based Accounting System in all ULBs 

in the State. Prior to this, the ULBs were following single entry cash basis accounting. The 

cash basis of accounting records transactions only on receipt and payment of cash during a 

particular period. The cash basis method thus focuses exclusively of the most liquid and 

tangible asset, namely cash. The cash basis method fails the matching principle i.e. expenses 

must be recorded in the same period as the revenue it helped to earn. The cash basis method 

also allows the entities to shift expenses from one period to the next by delaying the 

payments.  The system neither explains what the outcomes of receipt and payment were nor 

indicates any receivables accrued and payables incurred out of the operation during the 

period when such income and expenses accrue to ULBs. As a result, an analysis of the true 

and fair view of the activities of the ULBs is not possible. 

ACCOUNTING CONCEPT S 

Accounting Concepts are the necessary assumptions, conditions or postulates upon 

which the accounting is based. They are developed to facilitate communication of accounting 

and financial information to all the readers of the Financial Statements, so that all readers 

interpret the statements in the same meaning and context. 

Accounting Concepts are as follows: 

a. Entity Concept 

b. Dual Aspect or Accounting Equivalence Concept 

c. Going Concern Concept 

d. Money Measurement Concept 

e. Cost Concept 

f. Accounting Period Concept 

g. Accrual Concept 

h. Periodic Matching of Cost and Revenue Concept 

i. Capital and Revenue Expenditure Concept. 

j. Income and Expenditure Concept. 
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ENTITY CONCEPT  

For accounting purposes, an ñorganisationò is treated as a separate entity from the 

ñownersò or ñstakeholdersò. This concept helps in keeping private affairs of the owners and 

stakeholders separate from the business affairs. For example, a ULB is a separate, 

independent and autonomous entity and is governed by separate legislation and the 

regulations formed by it. The various stakeholders of the ULB, including citizens, State 

Government, environmentalists, etc., do not own the ULB. Thus, a separate Balance Sheet 

and Income & Expenditure Statement is prepared in respect of the operations of the ULB. 

This concept is applicable to all forms of organisations. 

DUAL ASPECT OR ACCOUNTING EQUIVALENCE CO NCEPT 

This concept follows from the Entity Concept. All entities own certain assets. Such 

assets are acquired through contributions of those who have provided the funds for the 

purpose. Funds are made available either through contributions of owners the surpluses of the 

entity or loans or payables. In a sense, such providers of funds are claimants to the assets. At 

any point in time, the assets will be equal to the claims. Since the claims on the assets could 

be those of ñoutsidersò (i.e. liabilities) or ñownersò (i.e. capital, reserves, etc.), it results in the 

accounting equation: 

Assets = Own Funds + Liabilities 
 

GOING CONCERN CONCEPT 

This concept assumes that a business entity will continue to operate indefinitely and 

that it will not be liquidated in the immediate future. Indefinite future means that the business 

enterprise will not be wound up within the foreseeable future and therefore would be able to 

meet its contractual obligations and use its resources according to the plans and 

predetermined goals. 

MONEY MEASUREMENT CO NCEPT 

Accounting is only concerned with those transactions which can be measured in terms 

of money. Hence transactions that cannot be expressed in terms of money are not recorded in 

the books of accounts. Receipt of income, payment of expenses, purchase and sale of assets, 

etc., are monetary transactions that are recorded in the books of accounts. For example, the 

event of a machinery breakdown is not recorded as it does not have a monetary value. 

However, the expenditure incurred for the repair of the machinery can be measured in 

monetary value and hence is recorded. 
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COST CONCEPT 

A business transaction is recorded in terms of the amount actually passing through the 

transaction. , i.e., at its cost and this cost is the basis for all subsequent accounting for the 

asset. The cost concept does not mean that the asset will always be shown at cost. This 

basically signifies that each time the financial statements are prepared; the fixed assets need 

not be revised and recorded at its realisable or replacement or market value. The assets 

recorded at cost at the time of purchase may systematically be reduced through depreciation. 

ACCOUNTING PERIOD CO NCEPT 

An accounting period is the interval of time at the end of which the financial 

statements are prepared to ascertain the financial performance of the organisation. Although 

the ñgoing concernò concept stresses the continuing nature of the entity, it is necessary for an 

organisation (e.g. ULB) to review how it is performing. The preparation of financial 

statements at periodic intervals helps in taking timely corrective action and developing 

appropriate strategies. The accounting period is normally considered to be of twelve months. 

ACCRUAL S AND DEFERRALS CONCEPT 

Under the cash system of accounting, the revenues and expenses are recorded only if 

they are actually received or paid in cash, irrespective of the accounting period to which they 

belong. But under the accrual concept, occurrence of claims and obligations in respect of 

incomes or expenditures, assets or liabilities based on happening of any event, passage of 

time, rendering of services, fulfillment (partially or fully) of contracts, diminution in values, 

etc., are recorded even though actual receipts or payments of money may not have taken 

place. In respect of an accounting period, the outstanding expenses and the prepaid expenses 

and similarly the income receivable and the income received in advance are shown separately 

in the books of accounts under the accrual method. 

For example; the ULB did not receive the water charges for water supplied to 

customer during the year.  It must be recorded as income in the income and expenditure 

statement and accounts receivable in the balance sheet.  Similarly, say, salaries earned by 

employee have not been paid. It must be recorded with the amount to be paid, as salaries 

expenses in the income and expenditure statement and salaries payable to balance sheet. 

Deferrals means something has already been entered in the accounting records, but 

the amount needs to be divided up between two or more accounting periods. Deferrals or 

deferral-type adjusting entries can pertain to both expenses and revenues. 
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Deferral of Expenses: Say, one company may have paid on March 1 the entire bill 

for the insurance coverage for the six-month period of March 1 through August 31. However, 

as of March 31 only one month of the insurance is used up. Hence the cost of the remaining 

five months is deferred to the balance sheet account Prepaid Insurance until it is moved to 

Insurance Expense during the months of March through August. If the company prepares 

monthly financial statements, a deferral-type adjusting entry may be needed each month in 

order to move one-sixth of the six-month cost from the asset account Prepaid Insurance to the 

income statement account Insurance Expense. 

Deferral of Revenues: Deferrals also involve revenues. For example if a company 

receives Rs.6000 on March 1 in exchange for providing a monthly service from March 1 

through August 31, the accountant should "defer" Rs.5000 of the amount to a liability 

account Unearned Revenues and allow Rs.1000 to be recorded as March service revenues. 

The Rs.5000 in óUnearned Revenuesô will be deferred until April through August when it 

will be moved with a deferral-type adjusting entry from Unearned Revenues to Service 

Revenues at a rate of Rs.1000 per month. 

PERIODIC MATCHING OF  COST AND REVENUE CONCEPT 

To ascertain the surplus or deficit made by the entity during an accounting period, it is 

necessary that the costs incurred are matched with the revenue earned by the entity during 

that accounting period. The matching concept is a corollary drawn from the accrual concept. 

To ascertain the correct surplus or deficit, it is necessary to make adjustments for all 

outstanding expenses, prepaid expenses, income receivable and income received in advance 

to correctly depict and match the income and expenditure relating to that accounting period. 

CAPITAL AND REVENUE EXPENDITURE CONCEPT 

The accounts under the accrual system are prepared by dividing the expenditures into capital 

or revenue expenditure. A capital expenditure is an amount spent to acquire or improve a 

long-term asset such as equipment or buildings. Usually the cost is recorded in an account 

classified as Property, Plant and Equipment. The cost (except for the cost of land) will then 

be charged to depreciation expense over the useful life of the asset. 

A revenue expenditure is an amount that is expensed immediatelyðthereby being 

matched with revenues of the current accounting period. Routine repairs are revenue 

expenditures because they are charged directly to an account such as Repairs and 

Maintenance Expense. Even significant repairs that do not extend the life of the asset or do 

not improve the asset (the repairs merely return the asset back to its previous condition) are 
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revenue expenditures. It is the operational expenditure of a going concern which results in 

profit or surplus of income. 

INCOME AND EXPEND ITURE CONCEPT  

This concept is quite different from receipts and payments of cash. Income connotes 

receipts and / or receivables { for certain in a manner} with element of regularity and / or by 

virtue of legal / constitutional / contractual status of the entity arising out of its activities in a 

given period and the expenditure connotes expenses and charges (cash or non-cash) for 

continuing the activities in the same period including the payables incurred and all possible 

charges for diminution anticipated and/ or as per rule / policy regarding the value of working 

fixed assets, receivables (doubtful, erosion in investment, exchange fluctuation etc.), stores 

(always valued at cost or marked price whichever is less) and unusable / impaired assets. 

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE  

Accounting Principles are the customs or traditions guiding the preparation of 

accounts. They are adopted to make financial statements clear and meaningful. The 

Accounting Principles are as follows: 

a. Principle of Disclosure; 

b. Principle of Materiality; 

c. Principle of Consistency; and 

PRINCIPLE  OF DISCLOSURE 

The term ñdisclosureò implies that there must be a sufficient revelation of information 

which is of material interest to owners, creditors, lenders, investors, citizen and other 

stakeholders. The accounts and the financial statements of an entity should disclose full and 

fair information to the beneficiaries in order to enable them to form a correct opinion on the 

performance of such entity, which in turn would allow them to take correct decisions. For 

example, the Accounting Principles that have been followed for preparation of the Financial 

Statements should be disclosed along with the Financial Statements for proper understanding 

and interpretation of the same. 

PRINCIPLE  OF MATERIALITY  

An item should be regarded as material, if there is a sufficient reason to believe that 

knowledge of it would influence the decision of informed creditors, lenders, investors, citizen 

and other stakeholders. The accounts and the financial statements should impart importance 

to all material information so that true and fair view of the state of affairs of the entity is 

given to its beneficiaries. Hence, keeping the Principle of materiality in view, unimportant 

items are not disclosed separately and are merged with other items. For example, the 
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expenditure incurred on repairs and maintenance of a certain asset of the ULB, which are 

small, may not be disclosed separately in respect of each such small item but may be grouped 

together and shown as a single item of expenditure. 

PRINCIPLE  OF CONSISTENCY 

The Principle of consistency facilitates comparison of financial performance of an 

entity from one accounting period to another. This means that the accounting principles 

followed by an entity should be consistently applied by it over the years. For example, an 

ULB should not change its method of depreciation every year, i.e., from Straight Line 

Method to Written Down Value Method or vice-versa. Similarly, the method adopted for 

valuation of stocks, viz., First In First Out (FIFO) or Weighted Average should be 

consistently followed. In case a change is made, it should be disclosed. 

DOUBLE ENTRY SYSTEM OF ACCOUNTING  

In the Double Entry system of accounting each and every transaction involves two 

heads of accounts. All the heads of accounts are categorised under three groups i.e. 

1) Real Account ï the accounts relating to the property of the entity are called real 

accounts. The real account may be sub-divided as, (a) Tangible real accounts: these are the 

accounts of the properties which can be touched and seen e.g. land, building, plant furniture 

vehicles etc. (b) Intangible real accounts: the accounts of the properties which can not be 

touched or seen but can be used as right e.g.  goodwill, patent, copyright etc. While recording 

receiving (increase) is debited and giving away (decrease) is credited. 

2) Personal Account ï the accounts of the persons with whom various transactions are 

entered into are known as personal accounts.  The personal accounts are further classified as, 

(a) Natural Personal Accounts: the accounts of persons made of flesh and bone are called as 

natural personôs account e.g. Abhishekôs account, Lataôs account, Sujoyôs account etc. Here 

the receiver is debited and giver is credited. (b) Artificial Personal Account: the persons are 

not made of flesh and bones but treated as persons in the eye of law.  They can sue and be 

sued for their omissions and commissions e.g companies, banks, cooperative societies, trusts 

etc. (c) Representative Personal Account: the accounts prepared to represent natural or 

artificial persons are called representative personal accounts.  These are prepared for the 

convenience of recording of transactions.  One particular account may represent hundreds or 

thousands of persons e.g. any expense outstanding, expenses prepaid, income accrued etc. 

Salary due account will represent the salary amount still payable to the staff members. 
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3) Nominal Account - the accounts of expenses, losses, incomes or gains are known 

as nominal accounts e.g. rent account, loss by theft account, interest received account, profit 

on sale of machinery account. Here expense and charges are debited and receipts are credited. 

Accounting heads falling under 1&2 above form part of Balance Sheet. The 

accounting heads falling under 3 above form part of Income & Expenditure Statement. 

Double entry system is extended to include accrual accounting in which transactions 

that involve accrued (not actually received) income and / or obligation payable (not actually 

paid), are also accounted for. Entry of such transactions is possible only in the Double entry 

system of accounting. Under the system following three principal reports are generated: 

 

Statement Purpose 

Receipts & Expenditure 

Payment Statement 

It is in the nature of annual Cash Bank Book 

showing major accounts head-wise cash receipt and 

expenditure payment. 

Income & Expenditure 

Statement or Profit & Loss 

Statement 

Account for revenue receipts and expenses to 

determine the performance of the entity at the end of 

a period. 

Balance Sheet It is the list of sources and applications of funds i.e. 

list of Liabilities and Reserves & Surplus and list of 

Assets and Revenue Losses. It helps to assess the 

financial strength of the entity. 

 

BENEFITS OF ACCRUAL SYSTEM OF ACCOUNTING  

The accrual basis of accounting helps in determination of correct income and 

expenditure of the municipal bodies. The main benefits of accrual based accounting system 

are enumerated below: 

ü Revenue is recognised as it is earned and thus ñIncomeò constitutes both revenue 

received and receivable. The accrual basis not only records the actual income but also 

highlights the level and efficacy of revenue collection, thereby assisting decision makers in 

taking financial decisions.  

ü Expenditure is recognised as and when the liability for payment arises and thus it 

constitutes both amount paid and payable. In accrual basis of accounting, expenditure 

incurred on repairs and maintenance shall be recognised as expense of the period in which 

they are incurred and, if not paid for during the year, shall be treated as a liability (payable) 

and be disclosed as such in the Balance Sheet. 



Session 1 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 13 

ü Expenses are matched with the income earned in that year. Thus, it provides a very 

effective basis to understand the true performance of the organisation for the operations that 

is conducted in that year.  

ü A distinct difference is maintained between items of revenue nature and capital 

nature. This helps in correct presentation of financial statements, viz., the Income and 

Expenditure Statement and the Balance Sheet.  

ü Costs which are not charged to Income & Expenditure Account are carried forward 

and kept under continuous review. Any cost that appears to have lost its utility or its power to 

generate future revenue is written-off.  

ü The surplus or deficit as shown at the year-end represents the correct financial 

position of the organisation arising out of the various transactions during that year.  

ü It facilitates proper financial analysis and reporting. 

ü It captures ñfullò cost of servicing and helps in identifying financial viability of 

rendering services.  

ü It helps in providing timely, right quality and nature of information for planning, 

decision-making and control at each level of management. 

ü It assists in effective follow-up of receivables by the municipal body and proper 

ascertainment of payables by the municipal body.  

ü One of the distinct advantages of adopting accrual accounting system is ease in 

financial appraisals by the financial institutions. It also facilitates credit rating through 

approved Credit Rating Agencies, which is a pre-requisite for mobilising funds in the 

financial markets through debt instruments. 

ü It presents a true picture of the financial position of an organisation and helps in better 

financial management. 

Thus, accrual basis of accounting results in recording of transactions and events on 

the basis of their substance, rather than merely when cash is received or disbursed, and thus, 

enhances their relevance, neutrality, timeliness, completeness and comparability. 

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN SINGLE ENTRY  CASH BASIS AND DOUBLE ENTRY 

ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACC OUNTING  

The major difference between single entry cash basis of accounting and double entry 

Accrual basis of accounting is summarised in the following table: 

Basis of 

Distinction 
Single entry cash basis of accounting 

Double entry Accrual basis of 

accounting 
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Nature of 

transaction 

All receipts and all payments in cash 

during a particular Accounting Period 

are recorded irrespective of the fact 

whether the transactions actually 

belong to that period or not. 

All income and expenses relating 

only to  a particular Accounting 

Period are recorded, whether these 

have been actually received or paid in 

cash or no. 

Accounts 
Only personal accounts and Cash 

Book  are opened 

Personal, Real and Nominal accounts 

are opened 

Accuracy 

of results 

Accuracy of transactions cannot be 

verified since all entries are on single 

entry basis and also no trial balance 

can be prepared. 

Since all transactions have a double 

effect and are on double entry basis, a 

trial balance can be prepared to check 

the arithmetical accuracy of the 

transactions. 

Financial 

Performance 

Financial performance of an entity 

cannot be ascertained, as no Income 

and Expenditure Statement can be 

prepared. 

Financial performance of an entity 

can be ascertained by preparing the 

Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Financial 

position 

A Balance Sheet cannot be prepared; 

only a Statement of Affairs can be 

prepared which does not give the true 

and fair view of the entity. 

The correct financial position of an 

entity can be ascertained by preparing 

a Balance Sheet which gives a true 

and fair view of the entity. 

Authenticity   

Through this Accrual Based System the following reports are generated: 

¶ Trial Balance 

¶ Income and Expenditure Statement 

¶ Balance Sheet 

¶ Receipt and Payments Accounts and 

¶ Cash Flow Statement. 

 

 

RULES OF ACCOUNTING  
The basic rules of accounting flow from the accounting equation: 

Assets = Own Funds + Liabilities 

An increase in the asset, e.g., Vehicle can be brought about by: 

a. Decrease in another asset, e.g., Bank Account, or 

b. Increase in liability, e.g., Loans or Payables. 

An decrease in the asset, e.g., Cash may result in: 

c. Increase in another asset, e.g., Medical Equipment 

d. Decrease in liability, e.g., Payment of Loans or payment of suppliers 

outstanding 

e. Decrease in own funds through expenditure. 

It is customary to use the term ñDebitò and ñCreditò to communicate the above phenomenon. 

The rules of debits and credits are as follows: 

Type of Account Debit Signifies Credit Signifies 

Asset Accounts Increases Decreases 

Liability Accounts Decreases Increases 

Own Funds Decreases Increases 
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An Accounting Entry would be a combination of a single debit and a single credit or a set of debits 

and a set of credits, as may be appropriate. Following the accounting equation of Assets = Claims, the 

debits will always equal credits. 

 

If we were to expand on the above, the following will be the rules applicable to incomes, 

expenditures, grants, etc. 

Type of Account Debit Signifies Credit Signifies 

Income (which will increase Own Funds) Decreases Increases 

Expenditure (which will decrease Own Funds) Increases  Decreases 

Grants Received Decreases Increases 

 

Following is the representative sample of transactions explaining the above rules and accounting 

entry. 

Transactions Account head 

involved 

Type of Account Increase 

Decrease 

Debit/Credit  

Property tax bills 

raised 

Receivables 

Property tax 

Asset Account Income 

Account 

Increase 

Increase 

Debit Asset 

Credit Income 

Purchase of supplies 

by stores 

Stock in hand 

Creditors 

Asset Account 

Liability Account 

Increase 

Increase 

Debit Asset 

Credit Liability 

Payment for 

expenses 

Expense 

Cash\Bank 

Expenditure Account 

Asset Account 

Increase 

Decrease 

Debit expense 

Credit Asset 

Repayment of 

borrowings 

Borrowings 

Bank 

Liability Account 

Asset Account 

Decrease 

Decrease 

Debit liability 

Credit Asset 

Realisation of 

debtors 

Bank \ Cash 

Receivables 

Asset Account 

Asset Account 

Increase 

Decrease 

Debit Asset 

Credit Asset 

Contribution to 

Pension fund* 

Pension fund a/c Liabili ty Account Increase Credit Liability 

¶ It is a payment and not expense. Therefore it does not pass through I&E a/c 

 

ACCOUNTING  PRINCIPLES AS PER ACCOUNTING MA NUAL FOR URBAN 

LOCAL BODIES OF WEST  BENGAL  

The Financial Statements of the Urban Local Body shall contain a Statement of 

Significant Accounting Principles as Notes to accounts in respect of important Accounting 

Principles adopted in preparing and presenting such information. The following Accounting 

Principles shall govern the recording, accounting and treatment of transactions relating to 

various activities as given below: 

INCOME  
 

PROPERTY AND OTHER T AXES 

a. Revenue in respect of Property and Other Taxes including surcharge shall be 

recognised in the period in which they become due and demands are ascertainable. In case of 

Property Tax, accounting entries on a quarterly basis shall be recorded in the books of 
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accounting either on an entry in the Assessment Register or raising of the bill, whichever is 

earlier. In case of new or changes in assessments, it should be accrued in the month in which 

the demand is served. Interest element and Penalties, if any, in demand shall be reckoned 

only on receipt.  

b. Revenue in respect of Property Transfer Charges / Mutation shall be recognised 

on actual receipt. 

c. Revenue in respect of Advertisement tax shall be accrued either based on Demand 

or based on the contract. The premium amount or the lump sum amount received shall be 

recognized over the period of agreement. 

WATER SUPPLY 

a. Revenue in respect of Water Charge, Water Supply Charges, Water Meter Rent, 

Sewerage charge, Disposal charges shall be recognised in the period in which they become 

due, i.e., when the bills are raised. 

b. Revenue in respect of Connection Charges for Water Supply shall be reccgnised 

on actual receipt. 

c. Revenue in respect of Water Tanker Charges and Road Damage Recovery 

Charges, Penalties shall be recognised on actual receipt. 

RENTALS, FEES AND OTHER SOURCES OF INCOME 

a. Revenue in respect of Trade License Fees shall be recognized on cash basis. 

b. Revenues in respect of rents from properties shall be accrued based on terms of 

agreement. 

c. Other income, in respect of which demand is ascertainable and can be raised in 

regular course of operations of the ULB, shall be recognised in the period in which they 

become due, i.e., when the bills are raised. 

d. The Other Incomes, which are of an uncertain nature or for which the amount is 

not ascertainable or where demand is not raised in regular course of operations of the ULB, 

shall be recognised on actual receipt e.g. toll. 

e. Interest on investment, loan and interest bearing advances is recognised on due 

basis. 

f. Revenues from fines are recognised on cash basis, except where a Court imposes a 

fine and the person against whom the fine has been imposed, has the right to contest before a 

due date. In such case, fine will be recognised after expiry of the due date. 

g. In case of Public Private Partnership where the ULB along with a private concern 

enters into an agreement of operation or business, revenue shall be recognised on due basis. 
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In case of revenues generated from commercial ventures undertaken by the ULB without any 

private partnership, it shall also be accounted for on due basis. 

h. Salami received against property shall be accounted for on receipt basis and 

transferred to Municipal Fund. 

COMMON ACCOUNTIN G PRINCIPLES OF PROPERTY AND OTHER TAXES, 

WATER SUPPLY AND RENTALS, FEES AND OTHER SOURCES OFINCOME 

a. Interest element and Penalties, if any, in demand shall be reckoned only on 

receipt. 

b. Revenue in respect of Notice Fee, Warrant Fee and Other Fees charged shall be 

recognised when the bills for the same are raised. 

c. Revenue in respect of rent of equipment provided to the contractors, deducted 

from their bills, shall be recognised as and when the deductions are made. 

d. Provision on arrears of income shall be made by the ULBs as follows: 

Sick/Closed Industries - 100% of the due 

The age-wise analysis of Receivables of Property Tax shall be made a regular exercise and 

shown in Notes to Accounts. The age-wise analysis for receivables of arrear tax shall show 

separately past years' tax as under: 

 
For the last three years During 3-5 years During 5-10 years During 10-15 years During 15 years 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) 

 

e. In case collection of any income is under litigation, wherever applicable, no 

accrual entry will be passed and a disclosure of it will be made in the Notes to Accounts. 

f. Refunds, remissions of incomes for the current year shall be adjusted against the 

income and if pertaining to previous years then it shall be treated as prior period item, 

wherever applicable (except where the income is recognized on cash basis). 

g. Write-offs of incomes shall be adjusted against the provisions made and to that 

extent recoverable gets reduced, subject to approval of the Government. 

h. Any subsequent collection or recovery of 'Receivables for Property & Other 

Taxes", "Receivables of Water Supply Income" or "Receivables of Rental, Fees and Other 

Incomes" which were already written off shall be recognised as a 'Prior Period Income'. 

i. Demands raised with retrospective effect will be treated as prior period income to 

the extent it pertains to earlier years, wherever applicable, (except where the income is 

recognized on cash basis). 
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ASSIGNED REVENUES 

Assigned revenues passed on by the Central/State Government Agencies to the 

ULB like Entertainment Tax, Duty / Surcharge on transfer of Immovable properties, shall be 

accounted during the year only upon actual collection. 

HEALTH AND SANITATIO N 

Revenue in respect of the following shall be recognised on actual receipt. 

i) Hospital fees, maternity homes' fees, diagnostic centre fees and dispensaries fees 

ii) Hospital training fees 

iii) Rent and/or hire charges in respect of ambulance, hearse, suction unit, meat van and 

road roller 

iv) Sale of fertilisers and waste, sale of animals and sale of scrap. 

EXPENDITURE  
 

EMPLOYEE RELATED TRA NSACTIONS 

a. Expenses on Salaries and other allowances shall be recognised as and when they 

are due for payment (i.e. at the month end). 

b. Statutory deductions from salaries including those for income tax, profession tax, 

provident fund contribution, etc., shall be recognised as liability in the same period in which 

the corresponding salary is recognised as expense. 

c. Gratuity shall be calculated upon retirement of the employee and will be due then. 

d. Leave encashment will be recognised on actual payment basis. 

e. Pension is recognised on actual payment basis. 

f. Interest receivable on loans given to employees shall be recognised as revenue at 

the end of the period in which these have accrued. 

g. In respect of loans to employees, penal interest leviable on default in repayment of 

principal or payment towards interest shall be recognised on accrual basis. 

h. Bonus, ex-gratia, overtime allowance, other allowances and reimbursements to the 

employees shall be recognised as an expense as and when they are due for payment. 

i. Employer's contribution to Contributory Provident Fund is recognised on due 

basis. 

HEALTH AND SANITATIO N 

a) All revenue expenditures incurred shall be recognised on admission of the bills for 

payment by the ULB. 

b) Provision shall be made at the year-end for all bills received upto 31st May of next 

financial year or till finalisation of accounts, whichever is earlier. 
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OTHER REVENUE EXPENDITURES 

a) Other Revenue Expenditures shall be treated as expenditures in the period in 

which they are incurred. 

b) Provisions shall be made at the year-end for all bills received upto 31st May of 

next financial year or till finalisation of accounts, whichever is earlier. 

c) Any expenditure for which the payment has been made in the current period but 

the benefit and/or service is likely to arise in a future period shall be treated as an expenditure 

for the period in which its benefit arises and/or services are received. 

d) The expenditure for the current period shall include the proportionate value of the 

benefits and/or services arising in the current period even if the payment therefore has been 

made in the previous period. 

ASSETS 
 

PUBLIC WORKS  

a) The cost of fixed assets shall include cost incurred/money spent in acquiring or 

installing or constructing fixed asset, interest on borrowings attributable to acquisition or 

construction of qualifying fixed assets up to the date of commissioning of the assets and other 

incidental expenses incurred up to that date. 

b) Any addition to or improvement to the fixed asset that results in increasing the 

utility or capacity or useful life of the asset shall be capitalised and included in the cost of 

asset. Expenditure in the nature of repairs and maintenance incurred to maintain the asset and 

sustain its functioning or the benefit of which is for less than a year, shall be charged off as 

Revenue Expenditure. However if the demarcation is difficult between Capital and Revenue 

Expenditure, one time expenses which exceeds 10% of the cost of specific fixed asset, subject 

to a minimum of Rs. 5000/- will be treated as Capital Expenditure and thus capitalised. 

c) Assets under erection/installation on existing projects and capital expenditures on 

new projects (including advances for capital works and project stores) shall be shown as 

"Capital Work-in-Progress". 

d) CWIP shall be transferred to the respective asset head once the asset has been 

fully constructed or the asset is ready for its intended use. 

e) Security deposit or retention money is considered as revenue at the time when 

intimation is made by the Engineering Department, with the approval of the 

Mayor/Chairperson about the unsuccessful performance of the work and as per the contract, 

the money is forfeited and when the right for claiming refund of deposit has also expired. 
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f) Deposit received under Deposit works shall be treated as a liability till such time 

the projects for which money is received is completed. Upon completion of the projects, the 

cost incurred against it shall be reduced from the liability. 

STORES 

a) Expenditure in respect of material, equipment, etc., procured shall be recognised 

on accrual basis, i.e., on admission of bill by the ULB in relation to materials, equipment, 

etc., delivered. The cost of inventories shall include the purchase price including the 

expenditure incurred to bring the inventories to its present location and condition i.e. freight 

inward, duties and taxes, etc. 

b) Accounting of 'goods received & accepted but no bills received' as at the cut off 

date shall be accounted based on purchase orders. The cut-off date shall be 31st May of the 

next financial year or till finalisation of accounts, whichever is earlier. 

c) The stock lying at the period-end shall be valued at cost in accordance with the 

First in First out (FIFO) Method. 

d) Agricultural products are valued on the basis of Net Realisable Value. 

e) Inventories of consumable supplies such as stationery, fuel shall be charged to 

revenue at the time of purchase. 

f) Revenue in respect of disposal of material shall be recognised on actual receipt. 

INVESTMENTS  

a) Investments shall be recognised at cost. The cost shall include other incidental 

expenses incurred for its acquisition e.g. brokerage. 

b) All long-term investments shall be carried / stated in the books of accounts at their 

cost. 

c) Interest on investments shall be recognised as and when due. At period ends, 

interest shall be accrued proportionately. 

d) Dividend on investments shall be recognised on actual receipt. 

e) Profit/loss, if any, arising on disposal of investment (net of selling expense such as 

commission, brokerage, etc) from the Municipal Fund shall be recognised in the year when 

such disposal takes place. 

f) Income on investments made from Special Fund and Grants under specific 

Scheme shall be recognised and credited to Special Fund and Grants under Specific Scheme 

respectively, whenever accrued. Profit/loss, if any, arising on disposal of investments (net of 

selling expense such as commission, brokerage, etc) made from the Special Fund and Grants 
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under specific Scheme shall be recognised and credited/debited to Special Fund Account and 

Grant under specific scheme Account respectively. 

FIXED ASSETS 

a) All Fixed Assets shall be carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. The cost of 

fixed assets shall include cost incurred/money spent in acquiring or installing or constructing 

the fixed asset, interest on borrowings directly attributable to acquisition or construction of 

qualifying fixed assets up to the date of commissioning of the assets and other incidental and 

indirect expenses incurred up to that month. 

b) Any addition to or improvement to the fixed asset that results in increasing the utility 

or useful life of the asset shall be capitalised and included in the cost of the fixed asset. 

Expenditure in the nature of repairs and maintenance incurred to maintain the asset and 

sustain its functioning or the benefit of which is for less than a year, shall be charged off as 

Revenue Expenditure. However if the demarcation is difficult between Capital and Revenue 

Expenditure, one time expenses which exceeds 10% of the cost of specific fixed asset, subject 

to a minimum of Rs. 5000/- will be treated as Capital Expenditure and thus capitalised. 

c) Any Fixed Asset, which has been acquired free of cost or in respect of which no 

payment has been made, shall be recorded at nominal value of Re.1/-. 

d) Land acquired through purchase is recorded on the basis of aggregate of purchase 

price paid/ payable and other costs incidental to acquisition. 

e) Leasehold lands acquired by the ULB are taken as a part of the municipal asset at a 

total value payable as lease charges over the entire lease period and amortised equally over 

the lease period. 

f) Lands that are acquired free of cost from the government or provided by individuals 

or institutions under endowment for specific purposes are priced at Re. 1/-. Where the 

ownership of the lands has not been transferred in favour of the ULB, but the land is in the 

permissive possession of the ULB, such lands should be included in the Register of Land 

with Re 1/- as its value. However their should be a clear mention in the Register that in case 

the Govt. takes back the land at any point of time in future, reversal of entry shall be made in 

the Register of Lands. Cost of developing such vested lands, if any, should be booked under 

the subhead 'land'. 

g) Cost of land improvements such as leveling, filling or any other developmental 

activity is capitalised as a part of the cost of land. 

h) Statues and Heritage Assets - Statues and valuable works of art will be valued at the 

original cost and no depreciation shall be charged thereon. In case, however, the original cost 
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is not available or the items have been gifted to the ULB by some other person, authorities, 

the value should be taken at Re 1/-. Heritage buildings declared through Gazette Notification 

should be booked under this head and should be valued at book value/cost of the material 

date. No depreciation should be charged on such buildings. However, in case of capital 

improvements after the building has been so notified, depreciation at the normal rate of 

buildings shall be charged. In case, however the book value /cost of the material date is not 

available or the items have been gifted to the ULB by some other person/ authorities, the 

value should be taken at Re 1/-. Material date in this case would be the date of Gazette 

Notification. 

i) Parks and Playgrounds should be capitalized under two categories, viz, 

i. Land pertaining to Parks and Playgrounds including the cost of development 

of land that should be booked under 'Land'. 

ii.  Other amenities to Parks and Playgrounds that should be capitalized under the 

sub-head 'Parks and Playgrounds' under the head 'Infrastructure assets'. 

However, any building /structures/ plant and machinery etc. constructed / installed 

in the Parks and Playgrounds and used for other purposes should not be booked 

under the sub-head 'Parks and Playgrounds'. The same should be booked under the 

appropriate heads/ sub-heads of assets. 

j) All lands that are under encroachment and belonging to the ULB and where it is not 

possible to have the land evacuated; the Board of Councillors would decide about the % of 

provision to be made on the cost of land. If the encroachment is for more than 2 years, 

provision equal to ninety percent (90%) of the carrying amount should be made. 

k) Method adopted for depreciation of assets is straight-line method of depreciation, 

except for leasehold lands, which is amortised over its leased life. Depreciation method 

adopted is same for assets acquired on finance lease. 

l) Useful life concept has to be applied on arriving at the rate of depreciation. Useful 

life has to be determined either for individual assets or for a class of assets and rate of 

depreciation thus arrived. 

m) All assets which have fully depreciated shall carry a book value of at least Re. 1/- 

n) All individual assets, whose cost is below Rs. 5,000/- (Rupees Five Thousand Only) 

shall be depreciated at 100% rate. 

o) Assets identified and evaluated technically as obsolete and held for disposal are to be 

stated at their net book value or estimated net realizable value, whichever is lower. 
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p) Intangible assets of the ULB include computer software, which shall be valued at 

cost plus cost of staff time and consultants costs incurred, in implementing the software, if 

any. It shall be capitalized, only when the intangible asset is developed, and which can be 

used by ULBs' over a period of time to derive economic benefits from it. In case it is not so, 

the entire amount will be charged to revenue, in the year in which it is incurred. The 

intangible assets acquired shall be depreciated over a period of five years or useful life, 

whichever is earlier. 

q) If the ULB has taken a loan, or other borrowings for the construction of an asset or a 

group of assets, then the interest would be capitalised to that particular asset or the group of 

assets. If a particular loan cannot be identified for a specific asset, then capitalisation would 

be made at weighted average rate. The weighted average rate will be applicable after taking 

into consideration the period of completion building of assets and the amount invested in 

relation thereto. 

r) Borrowing cost includes -  

i. Interest and commitment charges on the bank borrowings and other short term 

and long term borrowings, 

ii.  Amortisation of discounts or premiums related to the borrowings. 

s) Capitalisation will take place when all the following conditions are satisfied. 

i. Expenditure for the construction or acquisition of the asset has been incurred. 

ii.  Borrowing costs are being incurred during construction. 

iii.  The activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale 

are in progress. 

t) Capitalisation of the borrowing cost shall cease when substantially all the activities 

that is necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale is complete. An asset is 

normally ready for its intended use or sale when its physical construction or production is 

complete even though the routine administrative work might still continue. 

u) Depreciation on assets on which government grant has been received, is calculated 

on the gross value of fixed asset i.e. without deducting the grant amount from assets value. 

The grant so received is charged to the income and expenditure statement in the same 

proportion as the depreciation charged on such assets. 

v) Depreciation shall be provided at full rates for assets, which are purchased / 

constructed before October 1, of an Accounting Year. Depreciation shall be provided at half 

the rates for assets, which are purchased/ constructed on or after October 1, of an Accounting 

Year. 
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w) Depreciation shall be provided at full rates for assets, which are disposed on or after 

October 1, of an Accounting Year. Depreciation shall be provided at half the rates for assets, 

which are disposed before October 1 of an Accounting Year. 

 

 

 

GRANTS, BORROWINGS AND SPECIAL FUNDS 
 

GRANTS 

a) General Grants, which are of a revenue nature, shall be recognised as incomes on 

actual receipt. 

b) Grants towards revenue expenditure, received prior to the incurrence of the 

expenditure, shall be treated as a liability till such time that the expenditure is incurred. 

c) Grants received or receivable in respect of specific revenue expenditure shall be 

recognised ·as income in the accounting period in which the corresponding revenue 

expenditure is charged to the Income and Expenditure Account. 

d) Grants received towards capital expenditure shall be treated as a liability till such time 

that the fixed asset is constructed or acquired. On construction! acquisition of a fixed asset 

out of the grants so received, the extent of liability corresponding to the value of the asset so 

constructed acquired shall stand reduced and the amount shall be treated as a capital receipt 

and shall be transferred from the respective Specific Grant Account to the Grant Against 

Asset Account. Amount proportionate to depreciation of the asset shall be credited to the 

Income and Expenditure Account every year. Grants received for non-depreciable assets shall 

be credited to Capital Reserve. 

e) Capital Grants received as a nodal agency or as implementing agency for an intended 

purpose i.e. Deposit Works, which does not result in creation of assets with ownership rights 

for the ULB shall be treated as a liability till such time it is used for the intended purpose. 

Upon utilization for the intended purpose, the extent of liability shall stand reduced with the 

value of such utilisation and no further treatment, as a capital receipt shall be required. 

f) Grants in the form of non-monetary assets (such as fixed assets given at a 

concessional rate) shall be accounted for on the basis of the acquisition cost. In case a non-

monetary asset is received free of cost, it shall be recorded at a nominal value (e.g. Rupee 

One). Where the assets are compulsorily acquired for non-payment of taxes or duties, the 
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unpaid amount as appearing in the books constitutes the consideration for the acquisition and 

the asset acquired should accordingly be recorded at such amount. 

g) In the case of building/ constructing of an asset by an external Govt. controlled 

agency out of Govt. grants with the pre-condition that the asset thus built/constructed would 

be immediately handed over to the ULB, the whole of the capital cost of the asset as well as 

the grant should be shown in the books of accounts of the said ULB on transfer of the asset. 

BORROWINGS OR LOANS RECEIVED  

a) Interest expenditure on loan shall be recognised on accrual basis. 

b) Interest on borrowings directly attributable to acquisition or construction of qualifying 

fixed assets up to the date of commissioning of the assets shall be capitalised. 

c) A provision shall be made for the interest accrued between the date of last payment of 

interest and the date of financial statements and shall be charged to the current period's 

Income and Expenditure Statement i.e. interest accrued but not due. 

BORROWINGS AND LOANS AKEN BY UL BS 

On sanction by the State Government, the ULB may borrow Funds, either by issuing 

debentures, or other wise, for the purposes specified in the approval. These borrowings are 

generally secured by movable and immovable properties vested in the ULB. Unless 

specifically approved by the State Government, the loans cannot be used for any purpose 

other than that specified in the approval. 

Where the terms of sanction provide for the establishment of a Sinking Fund for the 

repayment of loan, the ULB shall establish it and credit to it, funds from the Municipal Fund. 

Similarly, if the terms provide for a creation of an Escrow Account for repayment of loans, 

the ULB shall create it and credit to it, the income earmarked for this. The purpose of 

establishment of a Sinking Fund or an Escrow Account is to accumulate money, including 

interest, adequate to repay the loan as per the repayment schedule. 

 

When Loans are received / Debentures / Bonds are raised, the accounting entries 

should be as follow: 

Debit / Credit Code Details 

Debit 450-21-01 Bank A/c Loan 

Credit 330-20-01 To Secured loans-State Government 

Credit 331-20-01 To Unsecured loans-State Government 

Explanation: When loans are received by Municipality e.g. from State Government, others, the above entry is 

passed. Details of loans such as rate of interest, tenure, repayment schedule, interest payment date etc. need 

to be maintained I a Loan Register. On receipt of loans in the form of debentures or bonds, the respective 

Account will be debited. When the loans are being re-paid, a reverse entry shall be passed. 
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When Interest on Loan becomes due, the accounting entries should be as follows: 

Debit / Credit Code Details 

Debit 240-20-01 Interest and Finance Charges-State Government 

Credit 350-12-02 To Interest accrued and due 

Credit 360-20-01 To Provision for interest 

Explanation: Above entry is passed to account for interest Expenses as and when they fall due, as per the 

loan agreement e.g. with State Government. The amount due is recognised and transferred to the interest 

payable Account. Amount for Interest accrued and not due shall be credited to a Provision for Interest 

Account 

 

When Interest is paid the accounting entries should be as follows: 

Debit / Credit Code Details 

Debit 350-12-02 Interest accrued and due 

Credit 4500-21-01 To Bank Account 

Explanation: This entry will be passed at time of actual payment of the interest to the lender. Any interest 

amount, which has accrued but has not been paid to the lender, will appear as part of interest payable at the 

year end. 

 

SPECIAL FUNDS 

a) Special Funds shall be treated as a liability on their creation. 

b) Income on investments made from Special Fund shall be recognised and credited to 

Special Fund, whenever accrued. Profit/loss, if any, arising on disposal of investments made 

from the Special Fund shall be recognised and credited/debited to Special Fund Account. 

c) Any expenditure of a revenue nature, which is incurred specifically on scheme / 

project, for which a Special Fund has been created, shall be charged to that Special Fund. 

Any special fund utilised for the purpose for which it was created should be transferred to 

special funds (Utilised) Account. 

d) On completion of the construction of a fixed asset and/or on acquisition of a fixed 

asset out of a Special Fund, the amount equivalent to the cost of such fixed asset shall be 

transferred from the respective Special Fund to the Grant Against Asset Account. Amount 

proportionate to depreciation of the asset shall be credited to the Income and Expenditure 

Account every year. 
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PUBLIC PRIVATE ERTNE RSHIPM (PPP) 

Since PPP means creation of infrastructure and services without government or public 

sector entities having to increase the borrowings or raise taxation, this type of governance 

reforms also entails dilution of traditional legislative financial control on taxation and 

borrowing.  PPP is quasi-fiscal activity that is typically not fully captured in the budget 

documents presented to legislature.  Hence an important issue arising out of PPP is that of 

fiscal transparency. The disclosure of contractual and quasi-contractual liabilities/ 

commitments assumed by the ULB under PPP should be estimated by the ULB in financial 

terms. There is no comprehensive fiscal accounting and reporting standard for PPPs at 

present. However, existing standards cover a number of PPP operations that should be 

disclosed in a straightforward manner.ò 

OTHERS 
 

LEASE AND HIRE PURCH ASE 

a) Finance lease in the books of lessee 

i. At the commencement of the lease term, finance leases shall be recorded as an asset 

and a liability. Such recognition shall be at an amount equal to the cost. 

ii.  Finance lease payments shall be apportioned between the finance charge and the 

reduction of the outstanding liability. The finance charge shall be allocated as to produce 

a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each of 

the period. 

iii.  Depreciation on such assets shall be provided at the same rates as in case of owned 

assets. 

b) Operating lease in the books of Lessor 

i. Assets given under operating lease shall be accounted as own assets in the same 

manner similar to any other fixed assets owned and used by the ULB. 

ii.  Lease income from operating leases shall be recognised as income on a straight-line 

basis over the lease term. Lease income shall be accrued on the respective due dates. 

iii.  Any amount incurred that results in improvement or increase of the useful life of the 

assets under operating lease shall be capitalised as like any other asset used by the ULB 

for its own operations. 

iv. Depreciation on such assets shall be provided at the same rates as in case of owned 

assets. 

v. The contract for parking fees, market space for stalls, ponds and other assets given on 

lease shall be accounted for on the basis of lease agreement. 
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c) Hire purchase in the books of buyer 

i. The purchase price shall be capitalised as the cost of fixed assets. 

ii.  Hire Purchase (HP) installments shall be apportioned between the finance charge and 

the reduction of the principal outstanding. The finance charge shall be allocated so as to 

produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 

iii.  The total amount of interest portion out of the 'HP Payable' shall be accounted by 

debiting to a control account under current assets. This amount will be adjusted on 

accounting of finance charges. 

iv) The depreciation principle for assets purchased under HP should be consistent with that 

for owned assets. 

d) Hire purchase in the books of seller 

i. The sale price (including the interest portion) shall be accounted as receivable from 

HP agreement; 

ii.  HP installments shall be apportioned between the interest income and the reduction of 

the principal amount receivable (the finance income to be allocated so as to produce a 

constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the receivable); 

iii.  The total amount of interest portion out of the 'HP Receivable' shall be accounted by 

crediting to a control account under current assets. This amount will be adjusted while 

accounting for finance charges. 

LOANS 

a) Interest/penal interest on loans shall be recognised as and when due. At period-ends, 

interest shall be accrued up to the date of the period-end. 

b) Interest / penal interest earned on loans given out of specific fund/grant shall be 

directly credited to the specific fund / grant account. 

MUNICIPAL SCHOOL BOA RD 

a) Fees and fines received from primary schools shall be recognised on actual receipt. 

i. Contribution receivable from other local bodies/ municipalities shall be 

recognised on actual receipt basis. 
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Exercise 

1. Sate whether the following statements are óTrueô or óFalseô. 

a. Cash basis considers the revenue as realized, when the bill is raised for demand. 

b. The losses from the sale of capital assets need not be deducted from revenue to 

ascertain the net income. 

c. According to money measurement concept, only transactions that can be expressed 

in money are recorded in accounts. 

d. The business entity concept considers the business and the proprietor as separate 

from each other. 

e. Going concern concept requires that assets should always be valued and recorded at 

market value. 

f. According to consistency concept, the results of one accounting period of a business 

cannot be compared with that in the past. 

g. Conservatism concept requires that all probable incomes must be considered while 

all prospective losses must be ignored in computation of income. 

2. Indicate the correct alternative in each of the following cases: 

a. The system of recording transactions based on dual aspect concept is called: 

i. Double entry system 

ii.  Double account system 

iii.  Single entry system. 

b. Cost concept requires the recording of the following in the books of account: 

i. Skills and knowledge acquired by business manager. 

ii.  An asset at its cost. 

iii.  Free training provided 

c. Market value of investments is shown as a footnote according to: 

i. Consistency concept 

ii.  Disclosure concept 

iii.  Conservatism concept 

d. Provision for bad and doubtful debts is created in anticipation of actual bad debts on 

the basis of : 

i. Conservatism concept 

ii.  Going concern concept 

iii.  Disclosure concept 

e. Income is measured and financial position is assessed on the basis of: 

i. Matching concept 

ii.  Consistency concept 

iii.  Money measurement concept 

iv. Time period concept. 

f. A fact or happening which cannot be expressed in terms of money is not recorded in 

accounting according to: 

i. Cost concept 

ii.  Money measurement concept 

iii.  Materiality concept 
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iv. Consistency concept. 

g. The policy of óanticipate no profit and provide for all possible lossesô, arises due to: 

i. Conservatism concept 

ii.  Consistency concept. 

iii.  Materiality concept 

iv. Disclosure concept 

h. Dual aspect concept results in the accounting equation 

i. Capital + Liabilities = Assets 

ii.  Capital = Assets 

iii.  Revenue = Expenses 

iv. (iv) Capital + Profit = Assets + Expenses. 

i. Purchase of Government securities for cash would: 

i. Reduce assets, 

ii.  Increase assets, or 

iii.  Keep assets unchanged. 

j. Purchase of equipment for cash: 

i. Increases total assets, 

ii.  Keeps total assets unchanged, or 

iii.  Decreases total assets. 

3. Explain with accounting entries as to how the following transactions would be accounted 

under cash based accounting and accrual based accounting system. 

a. Property tax demand for the first half year of 2007-08 amounts to Rs.4,50,000. 

b. Opening Balance of Property tax receivable amounts to Rs 50,000; Demand raised ï 

Rs.2,00,000; Collections made during the year ï Rs 20,000 (arrears), Rs 1,30,000 

(current year demand). 

c. Expenditure relating to insurance premium on machinery amounting to Rs 1,00,000 

for the period January 2007-2008 was paid in the month of December 2006. 

d. Salary Payable for the month of September 2007 amounting to Rs.10,00,000/- paid in 

October 2007 

e. A sum of Rs 10,00,000 is payable to supplier ñZò for supply of hardware stores. 
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SESSION TITLE:  Preparation of Opening Balance Sheet Session Guide 

INSTRUCTORôS GUIDE Reference 
Participantsô 

Response 

SESSION OVERVIEW   

Welcome participants to the session and remind them 

that their active participation is critical for the success 

of each session. 

Remind them that in the 1st Session participants were 

introduced to Accounting Concept, basic principles of 

Accounting and the Double Entry Accrual Base 

Accounting System. 

Tell them that in this session preparation of Opening 

Balance Sheet of the ULBs will be discussed. 

Lecture  

BASIC CONCEPT   

Introduce participants to the Guidelines for 

preparation of Opening Balance Sheet and discuss 

three steps to Balance Sheet, the guidelines for 

preparation of the Assets and Liabilities, Immovable 

and Movable Assets, determining the Value of Current 

Assets, determining the Value of Loans / Borrowings 

and Accounting Entry for incorporation of balances in 

the Opening Balance Sheet in detail. 

Show them and Discuss the Format for Opening 

Balance Sheet. 

¶ Lecture 

¶ SESSION 2 

PowerPoint 

Presentation 

 

APPLICATION    

Distribute Exercise ï Session 2 among participants; 

Issue instruction for time allowed writing answer 

with individually effort; 

Discuss the answers after expiry of allowed time. 

Distribute Participantsô Note 

¶ Exercise ï Session 2  

SUMMARISE    

Summarise the session with the mention of topics 

discussed during the session. 
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SESSION TITLE 

Preparation of Opening Balance Sheet 

LEAR NING OBJECTIVE  

At the end of this Session, the participants will- 

¶ Understand the general guideline for preparation of Opening Balance Sheet  

¶ Be familiar with the items of Assets and Liabilities that are required by the ULB to 

prepare it. 

¶ Understand the method of identification of items of Assets and Liabilities. 

SESSION OVERVIEW 

Preparation of Opening Balance Sheet is one of the steps in conversion of the 

accounting system from Cash Based to Accrual Based Accounting System. A Balance Sheet 

is a statement of the financial position of an ULB as at a given date, which exhibits its assets, 

liabilities, capital, reserve and other account balances at their respective book values. This 

session covers the guidance that are recommended to follow for identifying, valuing and 

collating the items of Assets and Liabilities based on which the opening balance sheet shall 

be prepared by ULBs. 

GUIDELINES FOR PREPARATION OF OPENING BA LANCE SHEET 

On the basis of National Municipal Accounting Manual, Govt. of West Bengal 

introduced Accounting System in all Urban Local Bodies. 

Following are few key terms in respect of Balance Sheet: 

a. Fixed Assets comprise assets, which are meant for use by the ULB over an extended 

period of time. It includes Immovable Property such as Land, Buildings, Bridges etc. and 

Movable Property such as Vehicles, Plant and Machinery, Furniture & Fixture etc. 

b. Immovable Properties consist of properties, which cannot be relocated. 

c. Movable Properties consist of properties, which can be relocated. 

d. Current Assets are comprised of items of a short-term nature (normally less than one 

year). Such items are usually used up in less than one year or converted into cash (or its 

equivalent) within a year. For instance, Property Tax Receivables, Water Charges 

Receivables, Inventory of medicines, consumables etc. 

e. Investments comprise of financial assets resulting from investments of cash surpluses. 

f. Current Liabilities comprise of the claims of external parties on ULB on account of any 

dues or other payables. 
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Updating 

¶ Updating of records 

and registers 

¶ Preparation of 

records and registers 

¶ Complete list of 

assets and liabilities 

Verification  

¶ Physical verification 

¶ Cross-checking 

¶ Checking with 

originals 

¶ Valuation/costing 

Compilation 

¶ Filling in the formats 

¶ Compilation of 

figures from various 

records and registers 

¶ Certificate 

¶ Approval by Board 

of councilors 

g. Reserve Fund in the ULB represents amounts set aside and earmarked for meeting 

specific obligations and commitments. For instance, Pension Fund represents the amount set 

aside for meeting future pension liability. 

In the first instance it has been decided by the Government of West Bengal that this system of 

accounting would be introduced in the 40 ULBs of Kolkata Metropolitan Area (except 

Kolkata Municipal Corporation), with support from the DFID assisted Kolkata Urban 

Services for the Poor programme. Gradually the accrual based accounting system shall be 

introduced in all ULBs of West Bengal. 

First step for switching over to the Double Entry System of Accounting is to prepare Opening 

Balance Sheet as on 1st April, 2004 

THREE STEPS TO BALANCE SHEET 

   

 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF BALANC E SHEET 

¶ Preparation of opening balance sheet is to be monitored by the authority as may be 

decided by the government. The balance sheet will be first approved by the authority and 

any comments of any such authority are suitably incorporated. 

¶ The approved balance sheet is placed before the Board of Councillors of the ULB for 

their approval. 

¶ It will also be submitted to the Accountant General/Local Bodies Audit/West Bengal. 

GENERAL GUIDELINES F OR PREPARATION OF TH E ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES  

¶ All assets which are under the ownership and permissive possession of the ULB will be 

accounted for. Similarly all liabilities to be paid will also be brought in the books. In case of 

Hospitals and schools, if the asset is under a separate legal entity, then it would not form a 

part of th.e ULB's balance sheet. 

¶ The separate legal entity includes hospitals, dispensaries, schools, maternity centres, 

nursing home formed as a society, trust, co-operative society, or a company formed under 

section 25 of the Companies Act, 1956. 
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¶ The mere maintenance of a register should not be taken as sufficient for the purpose of 

arriving at the balance. The Executing agency will have to check the authenticity of all the 

entries. All entries shall be cross-checked with source documents before its compilation in 

the balance sheet. 

¶ Assets constructed/purchased by some other agency/ Government and handed over to 

the ULB shall be accounted for on the basis of the ownership of the asset. If the ownership 

remains with the other agency, then it will not be recognised as an asset in the books of the 

ULB. If there has been a transfer of ownership without any consideration, then the asset 

shall be valued at Re. 1/- and recognised in the opening balance sheet. The balance sheet 

shall contain disclosure in the form of Notes with respect to following:- 

o Assets, which are in ULB's possession and derive economic benefits, but the 

ownership of which does not vest in it e.g. market constructed by Urban 

Development Department and handed over to the ULB with a right to collect rent, 

title deed not being executed. 

o The assets which are handed over to the ULB, but the title deed has not been handed 

over e.g. assets purchased/constructed by KMDA and handed over to the ULB for 

use and maintenance. 

o Receivables from taxes, etc. not collected due to litigation. 

o In case Demand and Collection Register is not updated or prepared, the ULB will 

have to prepare it and assess the amount of arrears. 

¶ Revenue shall be recognised only when it is measurable and there is reasonable 

certainty of collection. If the levy of any income or user charge is in dispute and any legal 

case is pending against it, it shall not be taken as the income of the ULBs. 

¶ The details of such Court cases and the amount if measurable shall be disclosed in the 

Notes to Accounts. 

¶ Revaluation of assets is not intended in this exercise. The Executing agency shall not go 

in for a revaluation mode and valuation shall be done on the basis of actual price paid/ 

payable. 

¶ Principle of conservatism shall be followed while preparing the opening balance sheet. 

¶ All the figures shall be in Rupees Thousands with decimals upto two places. 

¶ In the case of building/construction of an asset by an external Govt. controlled agency 

out of Govt. grants with the pre-condition that the asset thus built/constructed would be 
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immediately handed over to the ULB, the whole of the capital cost of the asset as well as the 

grant should be shown in the books of accounts of the said ULB on transfer of the asset. 

GENERAL GUID ELINES FOR FIXED ASSETS 

Fixed assets in the case of ULBs can broadly be classified into the following categories: 

Land and Buildings 

Å Land 

Å Buildings 

Statues and heritage assets 

Å Statues and valuable works of art and antiquities 

Å Heritage Buildings 

Infrastructure assets 

Å Roads and Pavements 

Å Bridges, culverts and flyovers 

Å Subways and causeways 

Å Sewerage and Drainage 

Å Waterways 

Å Water supply and reservoirs 

Å Deep tube wells 

Å Parks and playgrounds 

Å Street light posts and Public Lighting 

Equipments 

Å Plant and Machinery 

Å Vehicles 

Å Office and other equipments 

Å Furniture and fixtures 

Livestock 

Intangibles 

Å Software license fees 

 
GENERAL GUIDELINES F OR IMMOVABLE ASSETS  

The General Guidelines to be followed for Immovable Fixed Assets are as follows: 

a. Conduct physical verification of the immovable assets.  

b. The information collated during physical verification should be cross verified with the 

existing records maintained for the said fixed assets, if any. 

c. Only such assets, whose ownership vests with the ULB, shall be considered for 

arriving at the list of assets of the ULB.  

d. Details of the assets, whether freehold or leasehold should be specified separately for 

each of the assets. 

e. Cost of acquisition / construction: 

¶ The cost of acquisition / construction should also include, in addition to the cost 

incurred in acquiring / constructing the said asset, the cost incidental to the 
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acquisition / construction such as registration charges, stamp duty, consultancy 

charges (including legal charges) etc.  

¶ In case the cost of acquisition / construction is not ascertainable, an estimate of cost 

that would have been incurred for the acquisition / construction should be provided.  

¶ For assets funded out of grants, the cost of acquisition of the assets would be net of 

the grant proceeds utilised for the purchase of the asset. 

¶ In case an asset has been acquired / created free of cost, the asset should be recorded 

at a nominal value. 

f. Cost of improvement: Any cost incurred for improvement of assets, which results in 

increasing the life or the utility of the asset, should be considered as an improvement cost. 

Expenses of a normal and routine nature incurred for the repairs and maintenance of assets 

should not be considered as an improvement cost. 

g. Date of Acquisition: The date of acquisition is the date on which the property was 

legally vested with the ULB. In case of acquisition of fully constructed civil property, the 

estimated date of the construction of the structure is to be specified. The date of acquisition of 

the said structure by the ULB is also to be specified. 

h. Mode of Acquisition: whether the fixed assets have been purchased, constructed, 

transferred or gifted to the ULB or has been attached under any Act is to be specified. 

i. From whom acquired: The person / institution from whom the assets have been 

acquired is to be specified.  

j. Reference of available title documents. It has to be ensured that all the relevant 

documents like title deeds, contracts, invoices etc. are available with the ULB. A reference of 

the same has to be provided in the formats provided. In case the original documents are not 

available, a duplicate set should be made. 

k. The following should be specified in the Remarks Column: 

¶ Source of finance for the acquisition / construction of the assets.  

¶ Any restriction/covenants on the transfer of assets. 

¶ Pending litigations in respect of the fixed assets 

¶ Any unauthorised use or encroachment on the fixed assets 

l. The Accounts Department shall provide appropriate depreciation for assets held by the 

ULB to arrive at the book values of the assets. Depreciation shall be provided at the rates and 

calculated up to the date of opening balance sheet from the date of acquisition / installation as 

the case may be as per the principles laid down on Fixed assets.  



Session 2 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 38 

 

THE GENERAL GUIDELIN ES FOR MOVABLE ASSETS: 

a. Conduct physical verification of the movable assets. Allot an asset reference number to 

all categories of plant and machinery, vehicle, furniture, fixture and equipment (including 

office equipment). 

b. The information collated during physical verification should be cross-verified with the 

existing records maintained for the said fixed assets, if any. 

c. Cost of acquisition / construction is same as for immovable assets. 

d. Cost of improvement: Any cost incurred for improvement of vehicles such as building 

of body for buses, hearse vans, ambulances, fire brigades, etc. should be considered as an 

improvement cost. 

e. Date of Acquisition: The date of acquisition is the date on which the property was 

legally acquisitioned. 

f. Mode of Acquisition is same for immovable assets. 

g. From whom acquired is same for immovable assets. 

h. Reference of available title documents. It has to be ensured that all the relevant 

documents like title deeds, contracts, invoices etc. are available with the ULB. A reference of 

the same has to be provided as per the formats. In case the original documents are not 

available, a duplicate set should be made. 

i. The following should be specified in the Remarks Column: 

¶ Source of finance for the acquisition / construction of the assets. 

¶ Any restriction/covenants on the transfer of assets. 

¶ Pending litigations in respect of the fixed assets. 

¶ Any unauthorised use of the fixed assets. 

GUIDELINE FOR DETERM INATION OF VALUE OF CURRENT ASSETS 

a. In respect of Investments, Receivables, Other Current Assets, Loans and Advances, 

Borrowings/Loans payable, Unutilised Grants, Reserve Funds and Current Liabilities, the 

ULBs should compile the information required in the formats from the registers maintained 

by them currently. As far as possible, all details should be collected department-wise and then 

consolidated to give an overall position for the ULB. 

b. Investments can be either short term or long term. Long term investments are the 

investments which are held by the ULB for more than one year. For the purpose of 

preparation of Opening Balance Sheet, the ULB shall have to do a 100% physical verification 

of all the original certificates. 
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c. Cost of investments shall include the cost of acquisition like brokerage, duties, etc. 

Investment made out of grants received in advance, special funds and earmarked funds shall 

be specifically identified for each of the grant, special fund or earmarked fund and shall be 

captured in separate sheets. 

d. The ULB shall also provide for income receivable, expenses payable, and provisions for 

current assets, loans and advance as per the accounting principles prescribed in each of the 

chapters described earlier. These provisions shall also appear in the opening balance sheet as 

follows. 

¶ All income receivable shall be carried forward as current assets. 

¶ All expenses payable shall be carried forward as current liabilities. 

¶ Provisions for aged receivables shall be as per the accounting principles and the 

respective assets shall be netted off for the same. 

GUIDELINES FOR DETER MINATION OF VALUE OF  LOANS / BORROWINGS 

¶ The loans can be either short term or long term depending on the tenure of repayment. 

Any loan that is repayable after one year is treated as a long term borrowing. As part of the 

Opening Balance Sheet exercise, the Municipality shall have to verify all the original papers 

to determine the exact liability. 

MUNICIPAL FUND  

¶ Once, the values of all the assets and liabilities are arrived, the ULB shall record the 

net value or the balancing figure under the head ñMunicipal Fundsò. 
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ACCOUNTING ENTRY FOR INCORPORATION OF BALANCE S IN THE 

OPENING BALANCE  SHEET 

 

The entry to be passed for incorporating the opening balances is given below: 

Code of 

Account 
Accounting Entry  

Dr./ 

Cr. 

Debit Amount  

(Rs.) 

Illustrative 

figures 

Credit Amount  

 (Rs.) 

Illustrative 

figures 

Books to be 

entered into 

410-(b) 

Fixed Assets (Specify the 

name of the assets for e.g. 

Buildings) 

Dr. 500,000  

Journal 

Book, 

Ledgers 

412- (b) Capital Work in progress Dr. 300,000  

420/ 42- 

(b) 

Investments (Specify the name 

of the relevant fund also) 
Dr. 100,000  

460-40-(a) Advance to Suppliers Dr. 50,000  

460-(b) Loans and advances  Dr. 30,000  

430-(b) Stock in hand Dr. 25,000  

431- (b) Sundry Debtors Dr. 100,000  

440- (b) Prepaid expenses Dr. 10,000  

450-(b) Cash and Bank Accounts Dr. 60,000  

310-10-(a) 
    To Municipal fund 

    (General fund) 
Cr.  454,000 

311-(b)      To Earmarked funds Cr.  80,000 

312- (b)      To Reserves Cr.  120,000 

330/331 ï

(b) 
     To Loans payable Cr.  150,000 

340-(b) 
     To Deposits (specify the   

nature of deposits) 
Cr.  25,000 

411- (b) 

     To Accumulated 

depreciation ï Fixed assets 

(Specify the name of the asset 

for e.g. Buildings) 

Cr.  300,000 

432- (b) 
     To Provision for Sundry 

Debtors 
Cr.  

15,000 

 

461- (b) 
      To Provision for Loans &  

advances 
Cr.  2,000 

360-10-(a)       To Provision for expenses Cr. 
 

8,000 

350-(b)       To Other liabilities Cr.  21,000 

(a) Insert Detailed Head Codes of Account as applicable 

(b) Insert Major and Detailed Head Codes of Account as applicable 
 

Note:  The individual accounts within the major account heads listed above shall be debited/credited in above. 

Journal voucher prepared for incorporation of account balances in the Opening balance sheet. 
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FORMAT OF OPENING BALANCE SHEET  

OPENING BALANCE SHEET OF THE MUNICIPALITY OF ééé.éé AS ON 1ST APRIL 2004 

NAME OF THE ULB:_____________________ 

(Prepared by the CMU, KUSP, Govt. of West Bengal) 
 

OPENING BALANCE SHEET AS ON 1ST APRIL 2004 

Description of items Schedule No. Amount Amount Amount 

SOURCES OF FUNDS     
Reserves and Surplus     
Municipal (General) Fund B-1   xxxx 

Earmarked Fund B-2   xxxx 

Reserves B-3   xxxx 

Grants, Contributions for specific purposes B-4   xxxx 

Loans     

Secured loans B-5  xxx  

Unsecured loans b-6  xxx xxxx 

TOTAL     xxxx 

APPLICATION OF FUNDS      

Fixed Assets including Status & Heritage 

Assets 
B-11    

Gross Block  xx   

Less: Accumulated Depreciation  xx   

Net Block   xxx  

Capital work-in-progress   xxx  

Investments     

Investment-General Fund B-12  xxx  

Investment-Other Funds B-13  xxx  

Working Capital  

Current assets, loans & advances 
    

Stock in hand (inventories) B-14  xxx  

Sundry Debtors (Receivables) B-15    

Gross amount outstanding  xx   

Less: Accumulated provision against bad 

and doubtful receivables 
 xx xxx  

Prepaid expenses B-16  xxx  

Cash  and Bank Balances B-17  xxx  

Loans, advances and deposits B-18 xx   

Less:     

Current Liabilities and Provisions     

Deposit Received B-7  xxx  

Deposit works B-8  xxx  

Other Liabilities (Sundry Creditors) B-9  xxx  

Provisions B-10  xxx xxxx 

Other Assets B-19   xxxx 

Miscellaneous Expenditure (to the extent not 

written off)  
B-20   xxxx 

Capital Deficit     xxxx 

TOTAL     xxxx 

Notes to the Balance Sheet 
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The Opening Balance Sheet should be accompanied with the following certificate on the 

letterhead of the Executing agency: 
We have prepared / verified the Opening Balance Sheet as on 1st April éééé.. of éééééééé (Name of 

the ULB) and examined all relevant documents, supporting and records. The balance sheet has been prepared 

based on accrual based accounting system. All items that could have been included have been included and it is 

certified that no items have been left out in preparation of the opening balance sheet. 

We have obtained all information and explanations, which to the best of our knowledge and belief were 

necessary for the assignment. In cases where information was not available, a certificate from the Board of 

Councillors has been obtained. These certificates are attached herewith. The Board of Councillors have 

approved and adopted the opening balance sheet at their meeting held on éééé (Date of meeting). 

We have prepared / verified the opening balance sheet in accordance with Guidelines for preparation of 

opening balance sheet and approved by the Government of West Bengal. In cases where there were doubts, 

explanations were taken from the competent authorities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:                                                                                                                     Signature and Seal of the 

Place:                                                                                                                             Executing agency 

 

SUMMARY  

1. Preparation of Opening Balance Sheet is one of the steps in conversion of the accounting 

system from Cash Based to Accrual Based Accounting System. 

2. Steps to be followed to prepare an opening balance sheet are as follows: 

a. Updating of the records/ creation of records for the purpose of compiling and 

identifying the assets and liabilities of the Urban Local Bodies (ULBs) 

b. Verification of the assets and liabilities, including physical verification. 

c. Compilation of the information collected. 

d. Preparation of opening balance sheet with the required disclosures. 

3. The general guidelines to be followed while preparing the formats for the assets and 

liabilities are provided elaborately in this chapter. 

4. The list of forms/templates that shall be used for data collection are provided in this 

chapter. 

5. Specific guidelines for recording, valuing, accounting of immovable assets, current assets, 

loans and borrowings etc are discussed in this chapter. 

6. Accounting entry for incorporation of the balance in the opening balance sheet are 

explained with illustration. 
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EXERCISE 

 

Answer the following questions: 

 

1. What is the purpose of preparing an opening balance sheet? 

2. What are the various steps involved in preparation of opening balance sheet? 

3. What does ñMunicipal Fundò signify in the opening balance sheet? 

4. What is the significance of Bank Reconciliation Statement in the process of preparation of 

opening balance sheet? 

5. The balance sheet for the year 2006-07 was prepared. Subsequently it was noticed that 

building was understated to the extent of Rs 5, 00,000. How would you rectify this mistake? 
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SESSION 3 

SESSION TITLE: 

CHART OF ACCOUNTS &  FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 
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SESSION TITLE:  Chart of Accounts & Financial Statements Session Guide 

INSTRUCTORôS GUIDE Reference 
Participantsô 

Response 

SESSION OVERVIEW   

Welcome participants to the session and remind them that 

their active participation is critical for the success of each 

session. 

Remind them that in the 1st Session participants were 

introduced to the Accrual Base Accounting System and in 

the 2nd session to the Opening Balance Sheet  

Tell them that in this session Codification Structure of ULB 

Accounts and Financial Statements of ULBs will be 

discussed. 

Lecture  

BASIC CONCEPT   

Introduce participants to the Codification Structure 

followed by the ULBs. 

Discuss the Coding Logic and Procedure. Cover Primary 

Head Account Codes in detail. 

Explain the Coding Logic with illustration. 

Introduce the participants to the Financial Statements 

prepared by the ULBs. 

Discuss in detail the Trial Balance Sheet, Income and 

Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet, Cash Flow 

Statement and Receipts and Payments Account in detail 

with illustration cited in this module or of your own. 

¶ Lecture 

¶ SESSION 3 

PowerPoint 

Presentation 

 

APPLICATION    

Distribute Exercise 1 ï Session 3 among participants; 

Issue instruction for time allowed writing answer with 

individually effort; 

Discuss the answers after expiry of allowed time. 

Distribute Exercise 2 ï Session 3 among participants; 

Issue instruction for time allowed writing answer with 

individually effort; 

Discuss the answers after expiry of allowed time. 

Distribute Participantsô Note 

¶ Exercise 1 ï 

Session 3 

¶ Exercise 2 ï 

Session 3 

 

SUMMARISE    

Summarise the session with the mention of topics discussed 

during the session. 
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SESSION TITLE: Chart of Accounts & Financial Statements 

 

LEARNING OBJECTIVE:  

At the end of this Chapter, the participants will 

¶ Understand the meaning of Chart of Accounts followed in the ULBs. 

¶ Be familiar with the coding logic and how to define a coding structure. 

¶ Be familiar with the mandatory and optional groups under coding structure. 

¶ Be familiar with the structure of function code, account code and fund code. 

¶ Be familiar with the statements that form part of annual financial statements. 

¶ Be familiar with the method of preparation of Trial Balance, Income & Expenditure 

account, Balance Sheet, Cash flow and Receipts & Payments account. 

SESSION OVERVIEW: 

This session covers the Codification Structure and the Chart of Accounts (COA) 

followed by the Municipalities. Chart of Accounts provides the structure for recording and 

reporting financial transactions in a uniform manner by all the ULBs. This session focuses on 

the codification structure that is followed by all ULBs and for accounting of transactions. 

This session also covers the financial statements that indicate the state of affairs and 

the performance of the ULB for a stated period usually a year. This session covers the 

method of preparation of Trial Balance, Income & Expenditure, Balance sheet, Cash Flow 

and Receipts & Payments account. All Statements are explained with illustrations that have 

been taken from the National Municipal Accounting Training Manual. 
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INRODUCTION  
 

CODIFICATION STRUCTU RE & CHART OF ACCOUN TS (COA) 

COA defines the heads under which the income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of 

local bodies are classified and facilitates maintenance of accounts and preparation of financial 

statements. A well designed COA shall not only fulfill accounting requirements but also the 

Budgeting and MIS requirements and shall be flexible enough to consolidate and collapse to 

facilitate generation of various information reports. 

The COA is divided into the following Heads: 

¶ Function 

¶ Functionary (Responsibility centre / Department) 

¶ Field (Geographical centre) 

¶ Funds 

¶ Accounting code 

The ULBs are not permitted to change the codes, except where permission has been 

provided, and it is compulsory to follow the prescribed coding structure. 

Objective of preparing a chart of accounts are: 

¶ To achieve uniformity in the operations of ULBs across West Bengal. 

¶ To facilitate the entry of transactions in a computerised environment. 

¶ To act as a reference for the accounting transactions to be passed. 

¶ To generate various MIS reports. 
 

STRUCTURE OF FUNCTION CODE 

The function code of the ULBs shall have three levels within it. First level under this 

group represents various functions both obligatory and discretionary as per the concerned 

Municipal Act and known as óFunction Groupô. Second Level in function would represent 

the particular type of service under a function and known as óFunction Descriptionô and 

third level will represent a particular cost centre and known as óCost Centreô, which provides 

the service. Each level has a 2-digit code. The present function code has function group and 

function description. The structure of the function code can be explained with the help of the 

following diagram: 

 

 
 
 

 

Any transaction for Income / Expenditure / Asset / Liability shall be first passed 

through the function code, i.e. before entering the Accounting code. Example- Expenditure 

on Repair and Maintenance ï Roads and Pavements shall be shown under Roads and 

Function-Group Function 

Description 

Cost Centre 
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Pavements ï Public works, which is one of the obligatory functions of the ULBs. The 

accounting code for the function code will be entered as follows: 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

STRUCTURE OF THE FUNCTIONARY CODE  

The functionary accounting code will be a four-digit accounting code, with two levels 

of two-digit each. The first two digits would represent the various ódepartmentsô and the next 

two-digits shall represent the organisational structure within the department known as 

óDepartmental Descriptionô. 

The structure of the functionary code can be explained with the help of the following 

diagram: 

 

 

 

 

The functionary codes for the departmental description are not being used at present and they 

carry a zero code. For example, Expenditure on Repair and Maintenance ï Bridges and 

Flyovers shall be shown under the department óPublic Worksô. 

 

 

 
 

STRUCTURE OF THE FIE LD CODE 

The field code will be a seven digit accounting code, with three levels. The First level 

of two digits shall represent óBoroughsô, the second level of three digits shall represent 

óWardsô and the third level of two digits shall represent the slum and non-slum areas. The 

structure of the field code can be explained with the help of the following diagram: 

 

 

 

 

The digits from 01-99 are used for different Boroughs and digits from 01- 999 are used for 

different wards within the same borough. The digits 10 shall be used for slum-areas and digit 

20 shall be used for non-slum areas. The ULB allots the number of its boroughs and wards as 

it is done under the law and maintains the same number. In case a ULB has no 

boroughs/wards/slums/non-slums, then the code 00 is used. 

2.0 Public Works 2.1 Roads and Pavements 
0 0 Not in use 

2 0 

Function-Group 

2 1 

Function 

Description 

0 0 

Cost-Centre 

  

Department 

  

Departmental Description 

1 6 

Department 

0 0 

Departmental Description 

  

Borough 

  

Ward 

  

Slum/Non-Slum 
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STRUCTURE OF THE FUND CODE 

The fund accounting code will be a four-digit Accounting code, with two levels of 

two-digits each. The Major Fund would represent the broad categorisation of Funds and 

Minor Fund within it represents a particular fund. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Municipal Fund is used as Major Fund with code 01. No Minor Fund is being used at present. 

The accounting code from 02-99 are used by ULBs for different funds being maintained by 

ULBs , after approval from Department of Municipal Affairs, Government of West BengaL 

STRUCTURE OF ACCOUNTING CODE 

 

Primary Accounting Code 

Each accounting code consists of seven digits. The Accounting code depicts Major Head 

code, Minor head code and Detailed Head code. Though a Sub Head code between the 

Minor Head and Detailed Head is prescribed by  the NMAM, it is not being used currently. 

 

         

 
 

 
 

 

Major Head Code  Minor Head Code  Detailed Head Code 

 

Major Head code 

Major Head code will be a three digit code; the first digit in the major head code will be an 

identification digit, (ID digit) which shall indicate the nature of the transaction. 

¶ If the first digit is "1", it would represent Revenue Income. 

¶ If the fIrst digit is "2", it would represent Revenue Expenditure. 

¶ If the first digit is "3", it would represent Capital Receipts and Liabilities. 

¶ If the first digit is "4", it would represent Capital Expenditure and Assets. 

The next two digits in the Major Head code would be the running serial number of the 

respective major head code. For example if the first digit is 1 i.e. Revenue Income, then the 

next two digits would represent the different sources of Revenue Income i.e. Tax Revenue, 

Non Tax Revenue, Assigned Revenues and Compensations, etc. 

  

Major Fund 

  

Minor Fund 
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Minor head Code 

The minor head code is a two digit code, representing further details of the major head code. 

As an example, if the Revenue Receipt is a Property Tax income, it will be shown as follows: 

1 Major Head (Identification ID digit) Revenue Income 

10 Major Head Tax Revenue 

01 Minor Head Property Tax 

 

Detailed Head Code 

The Detailed - Head code gives details of the Minor Head code. The Detailed -Head code is a 

two digits code starting from 0 1. As an example, if the Revenue Receipt is a Property Tax 

income from Residential buildings, it will be shown as follows: 

1 Major Head Revenue Income 

10 Major Head Tax Revenue 

01 Minor Head Property Tax 

01 Detailed Head Residential Buildings 

 

 

The following diagram illustrates operation of accounting codes for "Property tax on 

residential buildings". 

1 1 0  0 1  0 1 

 
 

 
 

 

Major Head Code  Minor Head Code  Detailed Head Code 
 

Secondary Accounting Code 

Secondary accounting code reflects the subsidiary ledgers and other analysis ledgers. This 

enables the ULBs to do party-wise accounting. For example, the Contractors and Suppliers 

account is maintained contractor wise at this level. A three digit code is followed for the 

subsidiary ledger of each control account. The use of secondary accounting code can be 

explained with the following illustration. 

Bill received from Mr. X, a contractor and booked as liability under Contractor 

Payable 
 

3 Major Head Capital Receipts and Liabilities 

50 Major Head Other Liabilities 

10 Minor Head Creditors 

02 Detailed Head Contractors 

 



Session 3 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 52 

 

3 5 0  1 0  0 2 

 
 

 
 

 

Major Head  Minor Head  Detailed Head 

Secondary accounting code 

 

0 0 1 

 

The secondary accounting code 001 can be used for payable to a particular contractor, say 

Mr.X 
 

IDENTIFICATION CODE FOR ULB 

The chart of Accounts is same for all ULB's across West Bengal. Thus, each ULB has a 

unique identification code for itself, which is in the following format. 

 

           

       

State Code  District Code  Category  Code 

The state code will be same for all ULBs i.e. 19, State code for West Bengal. The district 

code would denote the district in which the ULBs are located. The category code would 

denote whether it is a Municipal Corporation, Municipality or a Notified Area Authority. The 

Code would denote the code for each ULB. The category codes will be 10, 20 and 30 

respectively for Municipal Corporation, Municipality and Notified Area Authority. 

The use of the identification code (for example: in case of Bidhannagar Municipality) is 

illustrated by the following illustration. 

 

19 State Code West Bengal 

11 District Code North 24 Parganas 

20 Category Code Municipality 

010 Code Bidhannagar Municipality 

 

1 9  1 1  2 0  0 1 0 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

State Code  District Code  Category  Code 
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PROCEDURE FOR THE CHANGE IN THE CHART OF  ACCOUNTS 

Function Code 

The function group codes can be changed / added only at the National level. Any requirement 

for an addition to Function Group head shall be requested by the States to the Ministry of 

Urban Development. The committee set up by the Ministry in this regard can add new heads 

under Function Group. 

State government can add functional description code. All additions made shall be intimated 

to the committee. The ULBs may send in their requests for additions in the Function code to 

the concerned Municipal Affairs Department. 

Functionary code 

The Department codes prescribed in the chart of accounts are mandatory for all ULBs. The 

ULBs can use the codes for departmental description code, after approval from Municipal 

Affairs Department. The Municipal Affairs Department or any other authority as may be 

authorised by the Municipal Affairs Department, shall prescribe the uniform codes for ULBs, 

after taking into account request from ULBs. 

Field Code 

The ULBs shall prepare a coding structure for their Boroughs and Wards, based on the 

current numbering pattern and intimate the same to the Municipal Affairs Department or any 

other authority as may be authorised by the Municipal Affairs Department. 

Fund Code 

The ULBs presently have a single Fund concept i.e. Municipal Fund. The accounting code 

from 02-99 are used by ULBs for different funds being maintained by ULBs , after approval 

from Department of Municipal Affairs, Government of West Bengal. The Municipal Affairs 

Department or any other authority as may be authorised by the Municipal Affairs 

Department, prescribe the uniform codes for ULBs, after taking into account request from 

ULBs. 

Primary Accounting Code 

The Major codes can be changed/ added only at the National Level. Any requirement for an 

addition to Major Head shall be requested by the States to the Ministry of Urban 

Development. The committee set up by the Ministry in this regard can add new heads under 

Major Head Code. Any addition to the Minor heads can be done by the State government. 

The State Government shall intimate all additions to the committee. lf the ULBs want to 

make any change in the Minor Heads, they should request the same to the Municipal Affairs 
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Department or any other authority as may be authorised by Municipal Affairs Department 

and only with prior approval they can be changed. The detailed heads prescribed are 

mandatory for all ULBs. The ULBs can add the new detailed heads (From 51-99) after pre-

approval of the Municipal Affairs Department. The Municipal Affairs Department or any 

other authority as may be authorised by the Municipal Affairs Department, will review the 

requests from various ULBs and if consider appropriate, may prescribe it uniformly across all 

ULBs (Detailed codes 01-50). 

Secondary Accounting Code 

The ULBs develop their own secondary accounting codes and, use it for party-wise 

accounting. 

An illustration to und erstand Coding Logic: 

Tuition Fee of Rs. 1,000/- collected by the 'Primary school in an ULB where they maintain 

separate Fund for Education. Information to be captured under all three levels of codification 

structure is shown below. 

Debit: Cash / Bank 

Level 1 Funds: Education Fund is a separate fund under the Municipal Fund Group. (Code 

for Municipal Fund ï Education: 10-03) 

Level 2 Budgeting Centres: Not applicable for cash and bank Accounts 

Level 3 Accounting subjects: Cash account under the Asset head cash and Bank Balances. 

(Code for Cash and bank Balances ï Cash: 450- 10) 

Credit: Income 

Level 1 Funds: Education Fund is a separate fund under the Municipal Fund Group. (Code 

for Municipal Fund ï Education: 10-03) 

Level 2 Budgeting Centres: This is an income under the Education function/ service collected 

by the Primary schools department. (Code for Education ï Primary Schools: 82) 

Level 3 Accounting subjects: Tuition Fee is a user Charge under the Income from Fees and 

User Charges. (Code for Fees and User Charges ï Other Fees: 140-40) 

Accounting Entry to be passed is shown below: 

Fund 

Code 

Budgeti

ng 

Centre 

Code 

Account 

Code 

Accounting Entry 

(Illustrative Heads) 
Dr/Cr  

Debit 

Amount(Rs) 

Illustrative 

figures 

Credit Amount(Rs) 

Illustrative figures  

 

10-03 08-82 
450-10-
(a) 

Cash Account Dr 1,000  

10-03  
140-40-
(a) 

To Fees & User 
charges - Other Fees 

Cr  1,000 
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SUMMARY  

1. Chart of Accounts (COA) defines the heads under which the income, expenditure, assets 

and liabilities of local bodies are classified and facilitates maintenance of accounts and 

preparation of financial statements. 

2. The codification structure proposed facilitates capture of all type of financial information 

within an ULB, which are essential in a government set-up. Each type of classification is 

considered as a group. 

3. The mandatory groups for all local bodies are 

¶ Functions 

¶ Account Heads 

Optional Groups are 

¶ Functionary (Responsibility center/department) 

¶ Field (Geographical center) 

¶ Funds 

4. Function represents the various functions or services carried out by the local body. 

5. Account heads represent the nature of the income or expenditure. 

6. Functions are provided through various responsibility/cost centres called departments 

(Functionary). 

7. Funds: ULB set up various funds for meeting certain objectives. Income and expenditure 

under these funds are to be identified and disclosed separately. 

Coding Logic 

8. Functions of the ULB can have three levels within it. First level represents various 

functions both obligatory and discretionary. Second Level represents the particular type of 

service under a function, known as ñFunction Descriptionò and third level will represent a 

particular cost center, Known as ñCost Centreò, which provides the service. 

9. Accounting subjects can be divided into two levels: Primary and Secondary. 

10. Primary account represents the subject of Income and expenditure. This code shall have 7 

digits and it is structured in to Major, Manor and Detailed Account code. 
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FAMILIARISATION WITH  FINANCIAL STATEMENT  

The provisions and rules of the Act governing the ULB stipulate for preparation of the 

Annual Administration Report and a Statement of Accounts by the ULB. The report shall be 

in prescribed form and shall contain such information as the concerned authority may from 

time to time direct. Preparation of Financial Statements comprising of various reports as 

stated below are the responsibility of the Head of the Accounts Department. 

The Annual Report of the ULB shall include the following: 

a. Financial Statements consisting of: 

i. Balance Sheet; 

ii. Income and Expenditure Statement; 

iii. Statement of Cash flows (a summary of an enterpriseôs cash flow over a 

given period of time); 

iv. Receipts and Payments Account (detailed as per the account heads); 

v. Notes to Accounts; and 

vi. Financial Performance Indicators. 

b. Report of the Municipal Chief Auditor ; 

c. Municipal commissionerôs Report on the Annual Financial Statements and the 

qualifications and comments made in the Report of the Municipal Chief Auditor; and 

d. Standing Committeeôs Action Taken Report on the qualifications and comments 

made in the Report of the Municipal Chief Auditor and the Report of the Municipal 

commissioner. 

¶ The ULBs prepare the financial statements like the Balance Sheet, Income and 

Expenditure Statement, Statement of Cash flows and Receipts and Payments Account, at the 

prescribed intervals. 

¶ Balance Sheet discloses figures as on a date for the current year and the previous year. 

Income and Expenditure Statement, Statement of Cash flows and the Receipts and Payments 

Account disclose progressive year-to-date totals and the figures of the previous year and the 

movements in various accounts. In addition, the Income and Expenditure Statement also 

disclose the annual budget figures. 

¶ In respect of the accounting year, the ULB shall prepare all the statements and reports 

specified in this paragraph. 
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TRIAL BALANCE  

Trial Balance is a list of closing balances in all the accounts in the Ledger and the Cash 

Books. The process of preparation of the Financial Statements is preceded by preparation of a 

Trial Balance. The purpose of preparing a Trial Balance is to determine the equality of posted 

debits and credits, and to generate a basic summary of accounts for facilitating preparation of 

the Financial Statements like Income and Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet, 

Statement of Cash flows and Receipts and Payments Account.  

While preparing the Trial Balance the following points are taken care of: 

¶ The income accounts shall generally have credit balances and the expense accounts 

shall generally have debit balances. 

¶ The asset accounts shall generally have debit balances and the liability accounts and 

the reserve funds shall generally have credit balances. 

The following are the steps involved in the preparation of a Trial Balance: 

¶ All the ledger accounts shall be closed at period end and the debit or credit balance 

shall be calculated. 

¶ The debit balances shall be posted in the debit column of the Trial Balance and the 

credit balances in the credit column of the Trial Balance. 

¶ The posting of Ledger Accounts in the Trial Balance shall be in the same order as 

prescribed in the Chart of Accounts. 

¶ The Cash Books shall be closed and the balances shall be posted in the Trial Balance. 

¶ Both the Debit Column and the Credit Column of the Trial Balance shall be totalled.  

¶ Since every debit entry has a corresponding credit entry, the sum-total of the debit 

balances in various account heads shall be equal to the sum-total of the credit balances 

in the other account heads. 

¶ The balances of income and expenditure accounts of Trial Balance are posted to 

Income and Expenditure Statement. 

¶ The balances of assets, liabilities and reserve accounts of Trial Balance are posted to 

Balance Sheet. 

¶ No item in Trial Balance should be left out without being credited either to Income 

and Expenditure Statement or Balance Sheet. 

An illustrated sample of Trial Balance is given in the next page - 
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MODEL MUNICIPAL CORP ORATION (MMC)  

Trial balance for the period from 01.04.06 to 31.03.07 

Code No Particulars Debit(Rs) Credit(Rs) 

 Fixed Assets   

410-10-(a) Land 3,00,000  

410-20(a) Building 1,30,000  

410-30-(a) Roads & Bridges 65,000  

410-40-(a) Plant & Machinery 45,000  

410-50-(a) Vehicles 12,500  

410-30-(a) Fixed assets ï foot bridge 25,500  

 Accumulated Depreciation   

411-20-(a) Accumulated depreciation ï Building  31,500 

411-30-(a) Accumulated depreciation - Roads & Bridges  19,875 

411-40-(a) Accumulated depreciation - Plant & Machinery  12,000 

411-50-(a) Accumulated depreciation ï Vehicles  5,000 

 Depreciation   

272-20-(a) Depreciation ï Building 6,500  

272-30-(a) Depreciation - Roads & Bridges 4,875  

272-40-(a) Depreciation - Plant & Machinery 5,000  

272-50-(a) Depreciation ï Vehicles 2,500  

 Capital work in progress   

412-10-(a) Capital work in progress - School buildings 16,500  

412-10-(a) Capital work in progress - Parks & Plays ground 25,000  

 Investments   

420-90-(a) Municipal fund investment - treasury bills 5,000  

421-80-(a) Investment - other funds- Indian bank 5,000  

421-10-(a) Family welfare grant investment - central Government 

securities 

6,000  

 Loans to others   

460-30-(a) Loans to others - MTU1 6,000  

460-30-(a) Loans to others ï MSB 0  

460-30-(a) Loans to others - MTU2 8,350  

460-10-(a) Loan to employees 4,700  

460-20-(a) Employee provident fund - loan account 2,250  

 Stock in hand   

430-10-(a) Stock in hand - Water supply stores 5,000  

430-10-(a) Stock in hand ï Electrical stores 10,000  

430-10-(a) Stock in hand - Engineering stores 1,000  

430-10-(a) Stock in hand - purchase of medical stores 14,800  

 Advances   

460-40-(a) Advance to suppliers & contractors ï School building 4,000  

460-40-(a) Advance to suppliers & contractors - Machinery stores 2,500  

 Prepaid expenses   

440-30-(a) Prepaid expense others - AMC computers 1,800  

 Miscellaneous expenditure not written off   

480-10-(a) Loan issue expense ï deferred 2,400  

 Incomes   

180-30-(a) Profit on sale of asset - Plant & Machinery  1,000 

171-30-(a) Interest on loan to others - MTU2  1,000 

160-20-(a) Re imbursement of Government grant  16,000 

160-10-(a) Motor tax - Revenue Grant  12,000 

120-10-(a) Tax and duties collected by others - Entertainment tax  75,000 
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Code No Particulars Debit(Rs) Credit(Rs) 

120-10-(a) Tax and duties collected by others - duty on Transfer of 

Property 

 75,000 

110-51-(a) Octroi & toll ï Octroi  18,000 

110-51-(a) Octroi & toll - Account current importers  4,000 

140-12-(a) Fees for grant of permit - Transit fees  2,000 

140-10-(a) Empanelment registration charges ï Cess  10,000 

110-52-(a) Cess - net income  45,000 

160-10-(a) Grant income - revenue grant  17,500 

140-50-(a) Parking fees -fees & user charges  7,500 

130-90-(a) Rental income from municipal properties  3,000 

140-11-(a) Licensing fees - shops & bazaars  4,000 

140-(b) Fees & User charges - Medical fees  15,000 

170-10-(a) Income from investment -interest (treasury bills)  550 

170-40-(a) Profit on sale of investment  1,500 

140-50-(a) User charges - water supply  7,000 

140-50-(a) User charges ï sewerage  4,000 

140-50-(a) User charges - meter charges  3,000 

140-50-(a) User charges - water tankers  15,000 

140-(b) Fees & User charges - water supply  5,500 

110-01-(a) Property tax ï residential  3,00,000 

110-01-(a) Property tax commercial  4,00,000 

110-02-(a) Water tax  3,50,000 

110-03-(a) Sewerage tax  150,000 

170-10-(a) Investment income - interest from Municipal fund 

investment 

 138 

280-10-(a) Prior period income property tax - residential - 2005  2,000 

280-10-(a) Prior period income property tax - commercial - 2005  4,000 

140-40-(a) Other fees - property transfer charges  5,000 

140-70-(a) Service and administration charges  4,000 

171-20-(a) Interest on loans advanced to employees   135 

 Provision for receivable   

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivable Cess ï 2004 3,000  

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivable ïCess 2005 2,000  

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivables ï fees & user charges ï 

2005 

4,000  

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivables ï fees & user charges ï 

2004 

3,000  

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivable - property tax - 2005 2,500  

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivable - property tax - 2004 1,750  

270-10-(a) Provision for doubtful receivable - property tax - 2003 750  

270-20-(a) Provision for other assets - Loan to MTU1 6,000  

 Other liabilities    

340-20-(a) Deposit revenues ïrent  1,000 

350-10-(a) Other liabilities - Sundry Creditors ï Suppliers  44,000 

350-20-(a) Recoveries payable from TDS contractors  4,000 

340-10-(a) Deposit received from contractors/suppliers security 

deposit 

 1,500 

350-20-(a) Recoveries payable from contractors ï TDS  1,000 

340-10-(a) Contractors/suppliers - Security deposit  5,000 

350-20-(a) Recoveries payable ï works contract tax ï park  250 

350-20-(a) Recoveries payable from contractors ï TDS  1,250 

340-10-(a) Contractors/suppliers - Security deposit - School building  1,800 
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Code No Particulars Debit(Rs) Credit(Rs) 

340-10-(a) Contractors/suppliers - Security deposit - Parks & Play 

ground 

 1,000 

340-20-(a) Deposit revenues water supply  3,000 

340-10-(a) From contractors/suppliers - security deposit stores  1,000 

360-10-(a) Provision for expense ï Communication expenses  1,500 

360-20-(a) Interest & Financial charges payable  2,500 

340-80-(a) Other security deposits ïopening  17,200 

350-10-(a) Other liabilities - Sundry Creditors - Contractors  43,000 

360-10-(a) Provision for other expenses  34,050 

350-11-(a) Employees liabilities - unpaid salaries   1,000 

340-80-(a) Rental deposit ï others  15,000 

 Special fund   

311-10-(a) Special funds - Tree authority fund   625 

320-(b) Grant for specific purpose - family welfare project   7,860 

 Receivables   

431-20-(a) Receivable for Cess -2006  4,500  

431-20-(a) Receivable for Cess -2005  4,000  

431-20-(a) Receivable for Cess -2004  6,000  

431-20-(a) Receivable for Cess -2003 0  

431-30-(a) Receivables for fees & user charges - water supply 2006  14,000  

431-30-(a) Receivables for fees & user charges - water supply 2005 8,000  

431-30-(a) Receivables for fees & user charges - water supply 2004 6,000  

431-10-(a) Property tax receivable on residential buildings - 2005 12,000  

431-10-(a) Property tax receivable on commercial buildings - 2005 4,000  

431-10-(a) Property tax receivable on commercial buildings - 2004 7,000  

431-10-(a) Property tax receivable on residential buildings - 2003 3,000  

431-10-(a) Property tax receivable on residential buildings - 2002  0  

431-40-(a) Receivable from other sources - interest on Loan to MSB  0  

431-40-(a) Receivable from other sources - interest accrued on Loan 

MTU 2  

0  

431-50-(a) Receivable from Government ï Entertainment tax  25,000  

431-19-(a) Receivable for other taxes - Octroi from Account current 

holders  

3,000  

431-40-(a) Receivable from other source - interest accrued and not 

due -Municipal fund investment  

138  

431-40-(a) Receivable from other source - interest accrued and not 

due -Special fund investment  

125  

431-40-(a) Receivable from other source - interest accrued and not 

due ï Grant fund investment  

120  

431-40-(a) Receivables from other sources-interest accrued and not 

due on employee loans 

135  

 Borrowings   

331-50-(a) Loans from bank and financial institution for art gallery -

S bank  

 93,700 

331-70-(a) 11% debentures  50,000 

 Accumulated Provision on outstanding receivables   

432-30-(a) Provision for outstanding fees & user charges - water 

supply ï 2005 

 4,000 

432-30-(a) Provision for outstanding fees & user charges - water 

supply ï 2004 

 6,000 

432-10-(a) Provision for outstanding property tax ï 2005  2,500 

432-10-(a) Provision for outstanding property tax ï 2004  3,500 
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Code No Particulars Debit(Rs) Credit(Rs) 

432-10-(a) Provision for outstanding property tax ï 2003  2,250 

432-20-(a) Provision for outstanding Cess ï 2004  6,000 

432-20-(a) Provision for outstanding Cess ï 2005  2,000 

461-10-(a) Provision for outstanding loans to others(MTU1)  6,000 

 Expenditures   

130-90-(a) Rent, refund and remission  2,500  

280-60-(a) Prior period expenses Refund of other revenues rent 500  

240-50-(a) Interest & Financial charges (Loan)  10,000  

240-60-(a) Interest & Financial charges (Debentures)  5,500  

270-50-(a) Miscellaneous exp written off  600  

230-59-(a) Repairs & Maintenance others - AMC computers  600  

220-12-(a) Communication expense  1,500  

220-21-(a) Printing & stationery expense  700  

140-90-(a) Fees remission & refund - water supply  2,000  

280-60-(a) Prior period expenses refund of other revenues - water 

supply 

500  

110-90-(a) Tax remission & refund - property tax 3,000  

280-50-(a) Prior period expenses- refund of taxes - property taxes  2,000  

230-30-(a) Consumption of medical stores  7,200  

271-10-(a) Loss on sale of stores  2,000  

230-50-(a) Repairs & maintenance infrastructure assets  25,000  

260-10-(a) Family welfare grant expenditure  17,500  

 Cash & Bank   

450-10-(a) Cash in hand  1,000  

450-21-(a) Bank balance 13,99,100  

450-(b) Designated loan bank account  1,50,000  

450-41-(a) Provident fund bank account  50,050  

450-42-(a) Pension fund bank account  38,000  

450-41-(a) Water supply bank account  14,000  

450-41-(a) Designated bank account - Tree Authority Fund  500  

450-41-(a) Designated bank account - Family Welfare Grant  6,740  

 Earmarked fund   

311-71-(a) Provident Fund   52,300 

311-70-(a) Pension Fund  38,000 

311-13-(a) Water supply Fund   14,000 

311-(b) Gratuity & Leave encashment Fund   20,000 

310-10-(a) Municipal Fund 1,  95,500 

312-50-(a) Reserves   96,700 

312-10-(a) Capital contribution   2,00,000 

 Salary   

210-20-(a) Basic salary  4,500  

210-20-(a) Dearness allowance  4,000  

210-20-(a) House rent allowance  2,000  

210-20-(a) Conveyance allowance  1,500  

210-20-(a) Medical allowance  1,000  

210-10-(a) Establishment expense ïbonus  1,500  

210-10-(a) Establishment expense - overtime allowance  1,000  

210-30-(a) Pension/family pension expense  3,000  

210-40-(a) Other terminal expenses - leave encashment  7,500  

210-40-(a) Other terminal expenses - Gratuity  12,500  

 Total 26,16,183 26,16,183 



Session 3 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 62 

 

INCOME AND EXPENDITU RE STATEMENT  

The ULBs also prepare an Income and Expenditure Statement for every accounting period. 

The Income and Expenditure Statement discloses the results of the working of the ULB 

during the period covered by the statement. It shows incomes and expenditures of the ULB 

for an accounting period and the excess of income over expenditure or vice-versa for that 

period. 

Since the Financial Statements are prepared under accrual basis, the Income and Expenditure 

Statement shall include all the income earned during the year whether actually received or not 

and all the expenditure incurred whether actually paid or not. 

The Income and Expenditure Statement is drawn from the Trial Balance. The various heads 

of incomes and expenditures are posted from the Trial Balance to the Income and 

Expenditure Statement. 

While preparing Income and Expenditure Statement, following should be kept in mind: 

¶ The balances in the income accounts, which generally have a credit balance 

and are recorded on the credit side of the Trial Balance, shall be posted on the Income side of 

the Income and Expenditure Statement; 

¶ The balances in the expense accounts, which generally have a debit balance 

and are recorded on the debit side of the Trial Balance, shall be posted on the Expenditure 

side of the Income and Expenditure Statement; 

¶ The excess of income earned by the ULB over expenses incurred by the ULB 

shall be transferred to and added to the Municipal Fund in the Balance Sheet. Likewise, 

excess of expenses incurred over income earned shall be transferred to and reduced from the 

Municipal Fund in the Balance Sheet. 

Any income or expenditure under a particular individual head, which is more than 1% of the 

total gross income of the ULB or Rs. 1,00,000 whichever is higher, are shown separately in 

the Schedules annexed to the Income and Expenditure Statement. 

An example of the Income & Expenditure Statement of the Model Municipal Corporation 

prepared from the Trail balance is cited in the next page: 
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MODEL MUNICIPAL CORP ORATION (MMC)  

Income & Expenditure Statement for the period 01.04.06 to 31.03.07 

Code 

No. 
Item/ Head of Account  

Schedule 

No 

Current Year  Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 5 

 INCOME     

1-10 Tax Revenue I-1  12,64,000  

1-20 
Assigned Revenues & 

Compensation 
I-2 1,50,000  

1-30 
Rental Income from Municipal 

Properties 
I-3 500  

1-40 Fees & User Charges I-4 80,000  

1-50 Sale & Hire Charges I-5 0  

1-60 
Revenue Grants, Contributions & 

Subsidies 
I-6 45,500  

1-70 Income from Investments  I-7 2,188  

1-71 Interest Earned I-8 1,135  

1-80 Other Income I-9 1,000  

A Total ï INCOME   15,44,323  

 EXPENDITURE     

2-10 Establishment Expenses  I-10 38,500  

2-20 Administrative Expenses  I-11 2,200  

2-30 Operations & Maintenance  I-12 32,800  

2-40 Interest & Finance Expenses  I-13 15,500  

2-50 Programme Expenses I-14   

2-60 
Revenue Grants, Contributions & 

subsidies 
I-15  17,500  

2-70 Provisions & Write off  I-16 23,600  

2-71 Miscellaneous Expenses  I-17 2,000  

2-72 Depreciation   18,875  

B Total ï EXPENDITURE   1,50,975  

A-B 

Gross surplus/ (deficit) of income 

over expenditure before Prior 

Period Items 

 13,93,348  

2-80 Add: Prior period Items (Net) I-18 3,000  

 

Gross surplus/ (deficit) of income 

over expenditure after Prior Period 

Items 

  13,96,348 

2-90 Less: Transfer to Reserve Funds    

 
Net balance being surplus/ deficit 

carried over to Municipal Fund 
 13,96,348  
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF THE INCOME & E XPENDITURE ACCOUNT  
 

SCHEDULE I -1: TAX REVENUE [CODE  NO 110] 

Minor 

Code No 
Particulars 

Current year Previous year 

(Rs.) (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

110-01 Property tax  7,00,000  

110-02 Water tax 22,000 3,50,000  

110-03 Sewerage Tax  1,50,000  

110-51 Octroi & Toll    

110-52 Cess  45,000  

110-80 Other taxes 12,67,000  

 Sub-total    

 Less   

110-90 
Tax Remissions and Refund 

[Schedule 1 ï 1 (a)] 

3,000 

 
 

 Sub-total   

 Total tax revenue  12,64,000  
 

 

SCHEDULE I -1 (A): REMISSION AND  REFUND OF TAXES 

Code 

No. 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

110-90 

Property taxes  

Water tax 

Advertisement tax 

Others 

3,000  

 Total refund and remission of tax revenues 3,000  

 

 

SCHEDULE I -2 : ASSIGNED REVENUES & COMPENSATION [CO DE NO 120] 

Code 

No. 
Particulars 

Current  Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

120-10 Taxes and Duties collected by others  

1,50,000 

 

120-20 Compensation in lieu of Taxes / duties  

120-30 Compensations in lieu of Concessions  

 Total assigned revenues & compensation 1,50,000  
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SCHEDULE I -3: RENTAL INCOME FRO M MUNICIPAL PROPERTI ES [CODE NO 130] 

Code 

No. 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

130-10 Rent from Civic Amenities 

3,000 

 

130-20 Rent from Office Buildings  

130-80 Other rents  

 Sub-Total 3,000  

130-90 Less: Rent Remission and Refunds Sub-total 2,500  

 
Total Rental Income from Municipal 

Properties 
500  

 

SCHEDULE I -4 : FEES & USER CHARGES [CODE NO 140] 

Code 

No.  
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

140-10 Empanelment & Registration Charges  10,000  

140-11 Licensing Fees 4,000  

140-12 Fees for Grant of Permit  2,000  

140-13 Fees for Certificate or Extract   

140-40 Other Fees  5,000  

140-50 User Charges 42,000  

140-60 Entry Fees   

140-70 Service / Administrative Charges  4,000  

140-80 Other Charges  15,000  

 Sub-Total  82,000  

140-90 Less:Rent Remission and Refunds  2,000  

 Sub-total 2,000  

 
10.1 Total income from Fees & User Charges ï 

Income head-wise 
80,000  

 

SCHEDULE I -5 : SALE & HIRE CHARGES [CO DE NO 150] 

Detailed 

Head Code 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

150-10 Sale of Products 

 

 

150-11 Sale of Forms & Publications  

150-12 Sale of stores & scrap  

150-30 Sale of Others  

150-40 Hire Charges for Vehicles  

150-41 Hire Charges for Equipment  

 
10.2 Total Income from Sale & Hire 

charges ï income head-wise 
0  
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SCHEDULE I -6: REVENUE GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS & SUBSI DIES [CODE NO160] 
Detailed 

Head Code 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

160-10 Revenue Grant 29,500  

160-20 Re-imbursement of expenses  16,000  

60-30 Contribution towards schemes   

 
Total Revenue Grants, Contributions & 
Subsidies 

45,500  

 

SCHEDULE I -7: INCOME FROM INVES TMENTS ï GENERAL FUND [CODE NO 170] 
Detailed Head 

Code 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

170-10 Interest on Investments    

170-20 Dividend   

170-30 
Income from projects taken up on 
commercial basis 

688  

170-40 Profit in Sale of Investments  1,500  

170-80  Others   

 Total Income from Investments 2,188  
 

SCHEDULE I -8: INTEREST EARNED [ CODE NO 171] 
Detailed Head 

Code 

Particulars Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

171-10 Interest from Bank Accounts   
171-20 Interest on Loans and advances to Employees 135  
171-30 Interest on loans to others 1,000  
171-80 Other Interest   

 Total. ï Interest Earned  1,135  
 

SCHEDULE I -9: OTHER INCOME [COD E NO180] 
Detailed Head 

Code 

Particulars Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

180-11 Lapsed Deposits   
180-30 Profit on Disposal of Fixed asses 1,000  
180-40 Recovery from Employees   

 Total Other Income 1,000   
 

SCHEDULE I -10: ESTABLISHMENT EX PENSES [CODE NO 210] 
Detailed 

Head Code 

Particulars Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

210-10 Salaries, Wages and Bonus 2,500  
210-20 Benefits and Allowances 13,000  
210-30 Pension 3,000  
210-40 Other Terminal & Retirement Benefits 20,000  

 3.1 Total establishment expenses ï expense 
head wise 

38,500  
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SCHEDULE I -11: ADMINISTRATIVE E XPENSES [CODE NO 220] 
Detailed 

Head Code 

Particulars Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

220-10 Rent, Rates and Taxes   
220-11 Office maintenance   
220-12 Communication Expenses 1,500  
220-20 Books & Periodicals   
220-21 Printing and Stationery 700  
220-30 Travelling & Conveyance   

 Total administrative expenses ï expense 
head wise  

2,200  

 

SCHEDULE I -12: OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE [CODE NO 230] 
Detailed 

Head Code 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

230-10 Power & Fuel   

230-30 Consumption of Stores 7,200  

230-40 Hire Charges   

230-51 Repairs & maintenance ïInfrastructure Assets 25,000  

230-59 Repairs & maintenance ï Others 600  

230-80 Other operating & maintenance expenses   

 
Total operations & maintenance - expense 
head wise 

32,800  

 

SCHEDULE I -13: INTEREST & FINAN CE CHARGES [CODE NO 240] 
Detailed 

Head Code 

Particulars Current Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

240-50 Interest on Loans from Banks & Other Financial 

Institutions 

10,000  

240-60 Other Interest 5,500  

240-70 Bank Charges   

240-80 Other Finance Expenses   

 Total Interest & Finance Charges  15,500  
 

SCHEDULE I -14: PROGRAMME EX PENSES [CODE NO 250] 
Detailed 

Head Code 

Particulars Current Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

250-10 Election Expenses   

250-20 Own Programmes   

250-30 Share in Programmes of others   

 Total Programme Expenses   
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SCHEDULE I -15: REVENUE GRANTS, CONTRIBUTIONS & SUBSIDIES  [CODE NO 260] 

Detailed Head 

Code 

Particulars Current Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

260-10 Grants [give details] 17,500  

260-20 Contributions [give details]   

 Total Revenue Grants, Contributions & 

Subsidies 
17,500  

 

SCHEDULE I -16: PROVISIONS & WRI TE OFF [CODE NO 270] 

Detailed 

Head Code 

Particulars Current 

Year 

Amount 

(Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

270-10 Provisions for Doubtful receivables 17,000  

270-20 Provision for other Assets 6,000  

270-40 Assets written off   

270-50 Miscellaneous Expense written off 600  

 Total Provisions & Write off  23,600  
 

SCHEDULE I -17: MISCELLANEOUS EX PENSES [CODE NO 271] 

Detailed 

Head Code 
Particulars 

Current 

Year 

Amount 

(Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

271-10 Loss on disposal of Assets 2,000  

271-20 Loss on disposal of Investments   

 Total Miscellaneous expenses 2,000  

 

SCHEDULE I -18: PRIOR PERIOD ITEMS (NET) [CODE NO 280] 

Detailed 

Head Code 
Particulars 

Current Year  

Amount (Rs.) 

Previous Year 

Amount (Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 

 Income 

6,000 

 

280-10 Taxes  

280-20 Other ï Revenues  

280-40 Other income  

 Sub ï Total Income (a) 6,000  

 Expenses   

280-50 Refund of Taxes  2,000  

280-60 Refund of Other ï Revenues  1,000  

280-80 Other Expenses   

 Sub ï Total Income (b) 3,000  

 Total Prior Period (Net) (a-b) 3,000  
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BALANCE SHEET  

The ULBs prepare a Balance Sheet at the end of each accounting period. The Balance Sheet 

is a statement, which reflects the financial position of the ULB as on a particular date. It 

presents the assets, liabilities and reserves of the ULB as on a specified date. 

The Balance Sheet is also drawn from the Trial Balance. Assets, liabilities and reserve heads 

are posted from the Trial Balance to the Balance Sheet. 

The details of various Balance Sheet items are given in separate schedules attached to the 

Balance Sheet. 

While preparing the Balance Sheet, the following should be kept in mind: 

a. The balances in the asset accounts, which generally have a debit balance and are 

recorded on the debit side of the Trial Balance, shall be posted on the Asset side of the 

Balance Sheet; 

b. The balances in the liabilities accounts, which generally have a credit balance and 

are recorded on the credit side of the Trial Balance, shall be posted on the Liability side of the 

Balance Sheet; 

The Model Balance Sheet of a Model Municipal Corporation prepared on the basis of 

Trial balance (already cited previously) is given in the next page. 



Session 3 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 70 

 

MODEL MUNICIPAL CORP ORATION (MMC)  

BALANCE SHEET OF MO DEL MUNICIPAL CORPOR ATION AS ON 31ST MARCH 2007 
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The various schedules to the Balance Sheet have been provided below: 
SCHEDULE B-1: MUNICIPAL (GENERA L) FUND [CODE NO 310] 

Code 

No. 
Particulars 

Opening balance 

as per the last 

account (Rs.) 

Additions 

during the year 

(Rs.) 

Total (Rs.) 

Deductions 

during the 

year (Rs.) 

Balance at the 

end of the 

current year 

(Rs.) 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

310-10 Municipal Fund 

1,95,500 13,96,348 15,91,848   
310-90 

Excess of Income 

& Expenditure 

 
Total Municipal 

fund (310) 
1,95,500 13,96,348 15,91,848 0 0 

 

SCHEDULE B-2: EARMARKED FUNDS  
SCHEDULE B ï 2: SPECIAL FUNDS/SINKING FUND/TRUST OR A GENCY FUND [CODE NO 311] 

Particulars Gratuity & 

Leave 

encashment 

Tree 

Authority 

fund 

Pension 

fund 

Provident 

fund 

Water 

supply 

fund 
Code No.      

(a) Opening Balance Nil  Nil  45,000 55,000 14,000 

(b) Additions to the Special Fund 20,000    14,000 

(i) Transfer from Municipal Fund   3,000 300  

(ii) Interest/Dividend earned on 

Special Fund Investments 

 625    

(iii) Profit on disposal of Special 

Fund Investments 

     

(iv) Appreciation in Value of Special 

Fund Investments 

     

(v) Other addition (Specify nature)      

Total (b)  625 3,000 300  

Total (a+b) 20,000 625 48,000 55,300 14,000 

(c) Payments out of funds      

(i) Capital expenditure on      

Fixed Assets*      

Others      

Sub ïtotal 0 0 0 0 0 

(ii) Revenue Expenditure on      

Salary, Wages and allowances etc.   10,000 3,000  

Rent      

Other administrative charges      

Sub ïtotal 0 0 10,000 3,000 0 

(iii) Other:       

Loss on disposal of Special Fund 

Investment s 

     

Diminution in Value of Special 

Fund Investments 

     

Transferred to Municipal Fund      

Sub ïtotal 0 0 0 0 0 

Total of (i+ii+iii) (c)    10,000 3,000  

Net balance at the year end ï 

(a+b)-(c) 

20,000 625 38,000 52,300  

Grant Total of Special Funds 20,000 625 38,000 52,300 14,000 
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SCHEDULE B-3: RESERVES [CODE NO 312] 

Code 

No. 
Particulars 

Opening 

balance 

 

Additions 

during the 

year (Rs.) 

Total (Rs.) 

Deductions 

during the 

year (Rs.) 

Balance at 

the end of 

the current 

year (Rs.) 

312-10 Capital Contribution  200,000 200,000  200,000 

312-11 Capital Reserve   0  0 

312-20 
Borrowing 

Redemption Reserve 
  0  0 

312-30 
Special Funds 

(Utilised) 
  0  0 

312-40 Statutory Reserve   0  0 

312-50 General Reserve 96,700  96,700  96,700 

312-60 Revaluation Reserve   0  0 

 Total Reserve funds 96,700 200,000 296,700 0 296,700 

 

SCHEDULE B-4: GRANTS & CONTRIBU TION FOR SPECIFIC PURPOSES [CODE NO 320] 

Particulars Grants from 

Central 

Government 

Grants from 

State 

Government - 

Family welfare 

Grant  

Grants from 

Other 

Government 

Agencies 

Grants from 

Financial 

Institutions  

Others 

Code No.      

(a) Opening Balance      

(b) Additions to the 

Grants *  

     

(i) Grant received 

during the year  

 25,000    

(ii) 

Interest/Dividend 

earned on Grant 

Investments 

 360    

(iii) Profit on 

disposal of Grant 

Investments 

     

(iv) Appreciation in 

Value of Grant 

Investments 

     

(v) Other addition 

(Specify nature) 

     

Total (b)  25,360    

Total (a+b)  25,360 0 0 0 

(c) Payments out of 

funds 

     

(i) Capital 

expenditure on 

     

Fixed Assets* 

Others 

     

Sub ïtotal  Nil  0 0 0 

(ii) Revenue 

Expenditure on 

     

Salary, Wages and 

allowances etc. 

Rent 

Other administrative 

charges 

 17,500    

Sub ïtotal  17,500 0 0 0 

(iii) Other:       
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Loss on disposal of 

Grant Investments 

Diminution in Value of 

Grant Investments 

Grants Refunded 

     

Sub ïtotal  Nil  0 0 0 

Total (c) [i+ii+iii]       

Net balance at the 

year end ï (a+b)-(c) 

 7860    

Total Grants & 

Contribution for 

Specific Purposes 

 7,860 0 0 0 

 
SCHEDULE Bð5:SECURED LOANS (CODE NO. 330 

 
 

 

SCHEDULE B-6; UNSECURED LOAN 
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SCHEDULE B-7: DEPOSITED RECEIVED (CODE NO. 340) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-8: DEPOSIT WORKS (CODE NO. 341) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-9: OTHER LIABILITIES  (SUNDRY CREDITORS) (CODE NO. 350) 

 
 

 

SCHEDULE B-10: PROVISIONS (CODE NO. 360) 

 
 



Session 3 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 75 

 

SCHEDULE B-11: FIXED ASSETS (CODE NO. 410 & 411) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-12: INVESTMENTS ï GENERAL FUND (CODE 420) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-13: INVESTMENTS ï GENERAL FUND (CODE 421) 
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SCHEDULE B-14: STOCK IN HAND (INVENTORIES) (C ODE 430) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-15: SUNDRY DEBTORS (RECEIVABLES) (CODE N O.431) 

 
SCHEDULE B-16: PREPAID EXPENSES (CODE NO.440) 
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SCHEDULE B-17: CASH AND BANK BALANCES (CODE NO.450) 

 
SCHEDULE B-18: LOANS ADVANCES AND DEPOSITS (CODE 460) 
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SCHEDULE B -18 (A): ACCUMULATED PROVISIONS AGAINST L OANS, ADVANCES AND 

DEPOSITS (CODE NO.461) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-19: OTHER ASSETS (CODE NO. 470) 

 
 

SCHEDULE B-20: MISCELLANEOUS EX PENDITURE ( to the extent not written off) (CODE NO.480) 

 
 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT  

Cash Flow statement is prepared in order to have information about the cash flows of an 

enterprise. It is useful in providing users of financial statements with a basis to assess the 

ability of the enterprise to generate cash and cash equivalents and the needs of the enterprise 

to utilise those cash flows. 

A Cash Flow Statement, when used in conjunction with the other Financial Statements, 

provides information that enables users to evaluate the changes in assets and liabilities of an 

ULB, its financial status, and the actual performance in terms of cash inflows and outflows. 

An example of the Cash flow of MMC is shown in the next page: 
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RECEIPTS AND PAYMENT S ACCOUNT 

The Receipts and Payments Account shows the sources of funds and the applications of funds 

during the accounting reporting periods. The Receipts and Payments Account shall be 

prepared from the Balance Sheet, Income and Expenditure Statement, Ledgers and Cash 

Book. 

The following shall be noted in relation to preparation of Receipts and Payments Account: 

¶ The receipts considered are on cash basis and does not take into account the receivables. 

Similarly, the payments considered are on cash basis and does not take into account the 

payables. 

¶ Non-cash items like Depreciation, Miscellaneous Expenditure w/off (written off), Profit / 

Loss on disposal of Fixed Assets, Profit / Loss on disposal of Investments will not be 

considered while preparing this statement. 

¶ If any loan is obtained by the ULB in such a way that the disbursement of installments is 

directly made to the appointed Contractor, then the loan, though not directly received in 

cash by the ULB, should be shown as 'Receipts'. Similarly, corresponding payments made 

to the Contractor, though not made in cash by the ULB, should be shown as 'Payments'. 

An example of the Receipts and Payments account of MMC is shown in the next page: 
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FINANCIAL RATIO ANAL YSIS 

A ratio is an arithmetical relationship between two figures. Ratios are indicators of 

performance of the ULB/Department. Financial Ratio Analysis is a study of ratios between 

various items or groups of items in the Financial Statements of the ULB. 

An example of the financial ratios of Model Municipal Corporation (MMC) computed from 

the financials above is given in the next page: 
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FINANCIAL RATIOS  OF MODEL MUNICIPAL C ORPORATION  

FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 31ST MARCH 2007 
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SUMMARY  

1. The financial statements indicate the state of affairs and the performance of the ULB for a 

stated period usually a year. 

2. Financial statement comprise of the following 

a. Balance Sheet; 

b. Income and Expenditure Statement; 

c. Statement of Cash flows (a summary of an enterpriseôs cash flow over a given period of 

time); 

d. Receipts and Payments Account (detailed as per the account heads); 

e. Notes to Accounts; and 

f. Financial Performance Indicators. 

3. The process of preparation of the Financial Statements shall be preceded by preparation of 

a Trial Balance. 

4. The Trial Balance is a list of closing balances in all the accounts in the Ledger and the 

Cash Books. The purpose of preparing a Trial Balance is to determine the equality of posted 

debits and credits, and to generate a basic summary of accounts for facilitating preparation of 

the Financial Statements 

5. The ULB shall also prepare an Income and Expenditure Statement for every accounting 

period. The Income and Expenditure Statement discloses the results of the working of the 

ULB during the period covered by the statement. It shows incomes and expenditures of the 

ULB for an accounting period and the excess of income over expenditure or vice-versa for 

that period. 

6. The ULB shall prepare a Balance Sheet at the end of each accounting period. The Balance 

Sheet is a statement, which reflects the financial position of the ULB as on a particular date. 

It presents the assets, liabilities and reserves of the ULB as on a specified date. 

7. Cash Flow statement is prepared in order to have information about the cash flows of an 

enterprise. It is useful in providing users of financial statements with a basis to assess the 

ability of the enterprise to generate cash and cash equivalents and the needs of the enterprise 

to utilise those cash flows. 

8. The Receipts and Payments Account shows the sources of funds and the applications of 

funds during the accounting reporting periods. 

9. Notes to Accounts shall comprise of Statement of Significant Accounting Principles, 

Statement on Contingent Liabilities, Subsidy Report and Other Disclosures. 

10. Ratios are indicators of performance of the ULB/Department. Financial Ratio Analysis is 

a study of ratios between various items or groups of items in the Financial Statements of the 

ULB. 
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EXERCISE 1 ï SESSION 3 

1. Indicate the correct alternative in each of the following cases: 

a. The mandatory groups under coding structure for local bodies are 

i. Account heads 

ii. Field 

iii. Fund 

b. Functions are provided through various responsibility centres called 

i. Function 

ii. Field 

iii. Functionary 

c. Account heads is divided in to 

i. Two levels 

ii. Three levels 

iii. Four levels 

d. Primary account code is structured in to 

i. Major Head code & Minor Head code 

ii. Minor head code & Detailed Head code 

iii. Major Head code, Minor Head code & Detailed Head code 

2. Match the following 

 Account Code Account Description 

a. 1 ï 20 Secured Loans 

b. 2 ï 30 Assigned revenues & compensation 

c. 4 ï 10 Vehicles 

d. 3 ï 30 Operations & Maintenance expense 

3. Identify the relevant Account codes (Major Head- Minor Head ï Detailed Head) for 

the following transactions 

i. Property tax income on Residential buildings amounting to Rs 10,00,000 

ii. Income from grant of transit permit amounting to Rs 1,50,000 

iii. Payment of wages to temporary workers amounting to Rs 15,00,000 

iv. Payment of electricity bill amounting to Rs 25,000 

v. Consumption of Machinery spares costing Rs 15,000 

vi. Repairs of office equipment amounting to Rs 30,000 

vii. Depreciation on office buildings amounting to Rs 20,00,000 

viii. Refund of water charges pertaining to previous year amounting to Rs 35,000 

ix. Amount collected as security deposit from contractor/Supplier amounting to Rs 

2,00,000 

x. Interest accrued and due on loans amounting to Rs 3,00,000 

___________________ 
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EXERCISE 2 ï SESSION 3 

 

Fill in the blanks 

1. ______________________. is a list of closing balances in all the accounts in the ledger 

and the cash book. 

2. The Income and Expenditure Statement shows ___________________ of the ULB 

3. Any income or expenditure under a particular individual head, which is _______________ 

or _____________ which ever is higher, shall be shown separately in the Schedules annexed 

to the Income and Expenditure Statement. 

4. Balance sheet reflects _________________________ of the ULB. 

5. A cash flow is classified in to ____________________, __________________________ & 

_________________________ Activities. 

Answer the following questions 

1. What do financial statements comprise off? 

2. What is the purpose of Cash flow statement? 

3. State any five differences between ñReceipts and Payments accountò and ñCash flow 

statement? 

4. In a Cash flow statement what does ñCash flow from investing activitiesò mean? 

5. What do negative balance in ñCash flow from operating activitiesò signifies? 

6. What do the following ratios signify and how it is computed? 

a. Tax revenue to total income ratio 

b. Gross property tax receivable ratio. 

c. Operations and maintenance to gross fixed asset ratio. 

d. Debt service coverage ratio 

e. Current asset to current liabilities ratio. 
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SESSION TITLE: Points to be followed in Certification Audit  Session Guide 

INSTRUCTORôS GUIDE Reference 
Participantsô 

Response 

SESSION OVERVIEW   

Welcome participants to the session and remind them that 

their active participation is critical for the success of each 

session. 

Remind them that in the last session Charts of Accounts were 

discussed and participants were familiarized with Financial 

Statements  

Tell them that in this session various probable audit points for 

Certification Audit will be discussed.. 

Lecture  

BASIC CONCEPT   

Explain the objective / purpose of Certification Audit, Audit 

Materiality e.g. Assessing materiality, Relationship between 

Materiality and Sensitivity of account, Factors other than 

value deciding materiality, Audit Procedures, System Based 

Approach, Opening Balances and Comparatives, Evidence, 

Reporting, Types of opinions e.g. Qualified Opinions etc. 

Tell them the duties of the Auditor, appointed by the State 

Government, as laid down in the West Bengal Municipal Act. 

¶ Lecture 

¶ SESSION 4 

PowerPoint 

Presentation 

 

SUMMARISE    

Summarise the session with the mention of topics discussed 

during the session. 
  



Session 4 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 89 

SESSION TITLE 

Points to be followed in Certification Audit 

LEARNING OBJECTIVE  

At the end of this Session, the participants will- 

¶ understand the Primary objective of financial audit, Objectives set by CAG of India, 

Audit Materiality, Relationship between Materiality and Sensitivity of account, 

¶ be familiar with the Audit Procedures, Evidence, Reporting, Unqualified opinions, 

Qualified Opinions 

SESSION OVERVIEW 

This session covers general audit objectives of financial audit; objectives set by CAG of India 

and explain the Audit Materiality, Assessing materiality, Relationship between Materiality 

and Sensitivity of account etc. It will also cover factors other than value deciding materiality, 

Materiality by nature, Materiality by context. This session also covers the Audit Procedure 

which includes Analytical Procedures, System Based Audit and Substantive Test of Details 

and legal requirements for the Examiner of Local Accounts or Director of Local Fund. 

OBJECTIVE OF FINANCI AL AUDIT OR CERTIFIC ATION AUDIT  

The purpose of financial audit of Municipal entities include providing decision makers 

(financial statement users) with the assurance as to whether the financial statements of the 

entities are reliable (presented fairly in all material respects, in accordance with accounting 

rules) and report on non compliance with laws and regulations. 

AUDIT OBJECTIVES  

In relation to financial audit, it is necessary to clarify the following concepts: 

¶ Primary objective of financial audit; 

¶ Objectives which might be set by the CAG or the Statute; 

¶ The general audit objectives of any financial audit 

PRIMARY OBJECTIVE OF  FINANCIAL AUDIT  

Financial audit may be defined as a process of attestation of financial accountability of 

accountable entities involving examination and evaluation of financial records and expression 

of opinion on financial statements. Primary objective of financial audit is, therefore, 

ñexpression of an opinionò on financial statements. 

OBJECTIVES SET BY CAG OR STATUTE 

While the primary objective of the financial audit is to give an opinion on the financial 

statements (accounts), the CAGôs orders may determine the way financial audit is carried out.  

The objectives set by the CAG would reflect his audit mandate and policy.  For instance, 
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while carrying out the financial audit of Finance and Appropriation Accounts of a State 

Government, verification of adequacy of internal controls in the systems followed in the 

compilation of accounts leading to preparation of Finance and Appropriation Accounts in the 

office of the Accountant General (A&E) may be specified as an objective. Sometimes the 

Statute (the legislation governing the audit) may also lay down the audit objectives. 

THE GENERAL AUDIT OB JECTIVES OF FINANCIA L AUDIT: ASSERTIONS IN 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

To be relevant, the audit must relate to general objectives (also called assertions).  Assertions 

are positive statements about the óstate of beingô.  For example an assertion may be that all 

receipts are accounted for, or that all the investments shown in the accounts were really 

owned by the entity.  These general audit objectives (assertions) are designed to ensure that 

the auditor obtains evidence to support all aspects of the opinion required to be expressed on 

an account.  

GENERAL FINANCIAL AU DIT OBJECTIVES (óASSERTIONSô) FOR RECEIPT AND PAYMENT 

OR INCOME AND EXPEND ITURE ACCOUNT ITEMS  

There are five general audit objectives as indicated below: 

¶ Completeness 

¶ Occurrence  

¶ Measurement  

¶ Disclosure  

¶ Regularity 

These audit objectives are explained below: 

COMPLETENESS: óCompletenessô means that all transactions relevant to the year of the 

account have been recorded.  This implies that no transaction has been overlooked.  This 

assertion directly tests for potential understatement of figures in accounts.  To take an 

example, if the accounts are prepared for the financial year 2009-10, an item of expenditure 

which takes place during 2009-10 is not recorded in accounts of 2009-10, the completeness 

objective is not fulfilled. 

OCCURRENCE: óOccurrenceô means that all recorded transaction occurred and were relevant 

to the year of account.  For instance, if an item of receipt was booked in the accounts for the 

financial year 2009-10 which actually related to financial year 2010-11, then it violates the 

assertion of óoccurrenceô.  To satisfy the óoccurrenceô objective, the item should relate to only 

2009-10 (in above instance) and not to any other financial year.  

MEASUREMENT:  óMeasurementô means that the recorded transactions have been correctly 

valued, properly calculated, or measured in accordance with established accounting policies, 
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on an acceptable and consistent basis.  This involves much more than clerical accuracy as it 

requires the auditor to check conformity with established accounting policies and standards 

and the consistency in measurement. 

DISCLOSURE: óDisclosureô means an item is disclosed, classified and described in 

accordance with the recognised accounting policies and practices and relevant statutory 

requirements, if any.  This implies that the receipts and expenditure were booked to proper 

heads of accounts and the disclosure in the notes and foot notes in the accounts are 

appropriate and adequate. 

REGULARITY:  óRegularityô is unique requirement for Government accounts, the regularity of 

the expenditure and receipt is an important element to be considered. For example, a payment 

may be correctly recorded and properly disclosed in the relevant year of the account at 

correct value, but payment would be irregular if it did not accord with the requirement of the 

governing legislation or regulations. 

FOR BALANCE SHEET OR  ITEMS OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES  

There are five general audit objectives as indicated below: 

¶ Completeness 

¶ Existence 

¶ Valuation 

¶ Ownership  

¶ Disclosure 

These objectives are explained below: 

COMPLETENESS: óCompletenessô means that all assets and liabilities have been recorded in 

the accounts and nothing was omitted.  In other words there are no unrecorded assets or 

liabilities. This objective directly tests for potential understatement of assets and liabilities. 

For example, if the accounts omit some investments or liabilities, the completeness objective 

is not satisfied.  

EXI STENCE: óExistenceô means that all recorded assets and liabilities actually exist on the 

given date. This objective directly tests for potential overstatement of assets and liabilities.  

For example, if the accounts show some amount as cash balance, which does not exist, the 

óexistenceô objective is not satisfied.   

VALUATION:  óValuationô means that the values given to the assets and liabilities are accurate 

and have been arrived at in accordance with the established accounting consistent 

application. 

OWNERSHIP: óOwnershipô means that the assets are owned by the entity, the liabilities are 

properly those of the entity and both arise solely from regular activities.  The balance sheet 
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presents an accumulation of the entityôs rights and obligations.  óOwnershipô assertion 

requires that the assets and liabilities reported actually represent those rights and obligations 

of the entity on the given date. For example, if an item is shown in the accounts as amount 

receivable, the entity should have the legal right to sue and collect the amount. 

DISCLOSURE: óDisclosureô means that the assets and liabilities have been properly disclosed, 

classified and described in accordance with applicable reporting framework and relevant 

statutory requirements, if any.  This implies that the assets and liabilities were booked to 

proper head of account and the disclosure in the notes and footnotes in the accounts are 

appropriate and adequate.  For instance, if obligations under the guarantees given by the 

entity are not shown in the accounts, the requirement of ódisclosureô is not satisfied. 

AUDIT MATERIALITY  

The concept of materiality underlines the whole process of financial audit. The users of 

financial statements do not need absolute accuracy to make informed decisions. A matter is, 

therefore considered material, if its omission or misstatement would reasonably influence the 

decision of an intended user taken on the basis of financial information given in accounts.  

The concept of materiality is used both at planning stage  of the audit, when deciding what 

and how much work (i.e. audit procedures) needs to be done, and in evaluating the results of 

the audit. These are known as óplanning materialityô and óreporting materialityô respectively. 

Thus materiality should be considered by audit when: 

a) determining the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures; and 

b) evaluating the effects of misstatements. 

There is an inverse relationship between materiality and the degree of audit risk, that is, 

higher the materiality level, the lower the audit risk and vice versa.  The auditor takes the 

inverse relationship between the materiality and audit risk into account when determining the 

nature and extent of audit procedure. As a matter of caution, the planning materiality should 

be taken at lower figure than reporting materiality.  

ASSESSING MATERIALIT Y 

Materiality depends on the size and nature of the item judged in the particular circumstances 

of its misstatement. In assessing materiality, the prime consideration is the total value of the 

errors in the account.  However, the value is not the sole consideration while determining 

materiality.   The concept of materiality recognises that some matters, either individually or 

in aggregate, are relatively important for true and fair presentation of financial information in 

conformity with recognised accounting policies and practices.  The nature of the error, or the 
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context in which transaction occurs, are sometimes more important and Audit must always 

consider these factors, as well as value, when deciding whether an error is material. 

Thus materiality can be categorised into three types. These are explained in following 

paragraphs: 

¶ Materiality by Value 

¶ Materiality by Nature  

¶ Materiality by Context 

The point where the total value of errors in an account becomes unacceptable to Audit, so 

that Audit would have to qualify the audit opinion, is called materiality level of that account. 

Audit has to judge the materiality level of a particular account through the eyes of the 

intended users of that account.  In doing this, Audit will be judging the sensitivity of the 

account.  

The materiality thresholds depend on the nature of accounts and their sensitivity.  Materiality 

is a relative term and requires the exercise of professional judgement.  Materiality should be 

chosen to reflect the drivers behind the account, and could be expenditure, income, average 

surplus or asset values etc.  The level of materiality by value is set at the outset of the audit, 

but only should be considered as a guide.  It should not be considered a hard and fast figure.  

A range of values can be considered for materiality and audit plan should contain a 

justification of the choice. 

Audit materiality should be based on its individual circumstances. When deciding on a figure 

to be used as materiality the auditors should be guided by two questions: 

¶ How great is the usersô interest in the account likely to be? 

¶ What are they most likely to be concerned about? 

RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN  MATERIALITY AND SENS ITIVITY OF ACCOUNT  

The level of interest in the account dictates sensitivity of the account, more interest in the 

account results in less error being tolerated before the financial statements are felt to be no 

longer giving true and fair view of the state of affairs of the entity. 

The materiality level is usually set at a percentage of the materiality base depending upon the 

sensitivity of the account. The example given in the following table illustrates different base 

figures and materiality thresholds depending upon the sensitivity of the accounts: 

Base Figure for Materiality  
Materiality thresholds based on sensitivity of Account 

Very Sensitive Sensitive Not Sensitive 

Normal net surplus 5% 5 ï 10% 10% 

Gross income /expenditure 0.5% 0.5 ï 2% 2% 

Turnover (Sales) 0.5% 0.5 ï 2% 2% 

Total assets 0.5% 0.5 ï 1% 1% 

Net assets 1% 1 ï 2% 2% 
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Example  

A public sector company is engaged mainly in trading activities.  The income of the company 

in a year is Rs. 500 crore.   The accounts are not considered sensitive as there is no recent 

interest expressed by the Legislature and members of general public.  There is no proposal for 

disinvestment of governmentôs share in the company and there are no shareholders other than 

government. Considering the accounts as non-sensitive, materiality threshold for sales was 

fixed at 2% i.e. Rs. 10 crore was fixed for financial (attest) audit.  

FACTORS OTHER THAN V ALUE DECIDING MATERI ALITY  

While the use of percentage as numerical threshold such as one percent of expenditure may 

provide the basis of preliminary assessment of materiality, it can not appropriately be used as 

substitute for a full analysis of all relevant considerations. In other words materiality is also 

affected by nature of error as well as context of error. 

MATERIALITY BY NATUR E 

The question asked here is ñDoes the error affect a figure in accounts which users expect to 

be stated with high degree of accuracy or which is likely to be of great interest to them?ò 

This recognises that in any set of accounts some are more material than others.  These will 

include specific disclosure requirements of the auditee entity and the matters which the 

auditor knows the legislature would be interested in to the extent that a higher degree of 

accuracy is required for those particular figures than the account as a whole. 

MATERIALITY B Y CONTEXT  

The question here being addressed is ñIs error material because of its implication for other 

aspects of accounts?ò For example, due to a misstatement, the financial statements indicate 

that a department has savings when it has in fact exceeded its budget, will become material. 

AUDIT PROCEDURES 

The following audit procedures are commonly used to obtain audit assurance and help in 

forming opinion on the financial statements. 

¶ Analytical Procedures 

¶ System Based Audit 

¶ Direct Substantive Testing 

ANALYT ICAL PROCEDURES 

Analytical procedures consist of evaluation of financial information in audit, by studying the 

plausible relationships among both financial and non financial data. It involves analysis of 

significant ratios and trends that are inconsistent with other relevant data or which deviate 

from expectations. òExpectationsò in this context, refer to the auditorôs expectations of what a 
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figure in accounts being audited, should approximately be as worked out from other relevant 

financial and non financial information. It is based on assumption that there are relationships 

between items in the accounts and this relationship may be expected to continue.   

Example: 

¶ The reasonableness of figures of expenditure on salaries can be verified by 

multiplying the number employees in each grade with the average salary of the grade. 

¶ The reasonableness of the interest on General Provident Fund balance can be verified 

by multiplying the average balance in the General Provident Fund with the prescribed 

rate of interest. 

Comparing the amounts with budgeted amounts as well comparing these with the figures of a 

few previous years, identifying anomalous items within an account balance e.g. salaries 

should not be drawn for more than 12 months in a year, are part of analytical review.  

The analytical review procedure may be applied to the consolidated financial statements and 

individual elements of financial statements. 

The analytical review procedure helps us to find areas which should be examined in detail 

during audit. When the analytical review procedure identifies significant fluctuations or 

relationships that are inconsistent with other relevant information or that deviate from 

predicted amount, the auditor should investigate and obtain adequate explanations and 

appropriate evidence. Mere existence of anomaly or amounts deviating from expectations is 

not enough to draw conclusions.  These should be substantiated later on by carrying out 

detailed audit by obtaining evidence. 

SYSTEM BASED APPROACH 

The organisations establish systems of control designed to assure the accuracy and 

completeness of financial statements, the legality and regularity of underlying transactions 

and economy, efficiency and effectiveness of operations. Generally speaking, if the auditor is 

satisfied about the adequacy and effectiveness of these controls, the substantive checking of 

financial statements, transactions can be reduced accordingly.  The approach whereby the 

auditor checks the adequacy and effectiveness of the entityôs internal control systems is 

known as the System Based Approach (SBA). 

Various steps involved in SBA are as follows: 

¶ Identification and in-depth evaluation of relevant key controls, and assessment of 

extent, if any, to which the auditor can rely on these controls provided they are found 

to be operating effectively. 
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¶ The testing of the operation of these controls to establish whether they have operated 

effectively throughout the period under examination.  

¶ The evaluation of the results of the tests of control to establish whether the degree of 

reliance foreseen can be taken from the examination of the controls. 

Based on above examination, the auditor will arrive at a conclusion as to whether the controls 

are existing, reliable and extent of their reliability.  The auditor may also indicate loopholes 

in internal control system and suggest what additional controls could be used to remove such 

loopholes.   

Example: 

In the Revenue Department of Kolkata Municipal Corporation, a sub-system could be 

óAssessment of Property Taxô.  One of the objectives here would be that the property tax is 

assessed as per rate prescribed under appropriate Act.   The internal control to achieve this 

objective could be that the staff engaged for assessment work should note down the 

notification regarding property tax rates once in a month (say on 10th of the month) from of 

the Administration Wing which records all notifications/ circulars on various subject.  The 

auditor may find this control not effective and instead may recommend that whenever any 

circular on rates of the tax is issued, the Head in charge of Revenue Department should get 

these notifications acknowledged the day of receipt of the notification from all the staff 

engaged with assessment. 

DIRECT SUBSTANTIVE T ESTING 

Direct Substantive tests are those tests of transactions and balances which seek to provide 

evidence as against audit assertions like completeness, accuracy, disclosure (classification) 

etc. in the information contained in accounts or financial statements. The testing involves 

examination of samples of transactions or account balances and is a form of inductive 

reasoning where the reasonableness of aggregate results is inferred from the evidence of 

reliability of the individual details that have been tested.  

Example 

If the auditor wants to test whether the óInvestmentsô shown in the balance sheet are  not  

overstated, he will check the records relating to investments like ledger, instruments of all the 

investments if possible, otherwise he can check this on sample basis.  

Various steps involved in performing direct substantive testing are as follows: 

1. Determination of sample size and performance of test check as explained below. 

2. Identification of sub-systems to be tested. For example, in Revenue Department of 

KC one of the sub-systems could be óProperty Taxô. 



Session 4 

STM on Certification Audit of ULBs    Regional Training Institute, Kolkata 97 

3. Identification of audit objectives to be tested for selected sub-system.  For example, 

the audit objective could be to check whether óthe transactions (revenue receipts) are 

accurately reflected in the accounts i.e. checking the assertion of ócompletenessô. 

4. Identification of techniques of gathering evidence.  In case of above cited example the 

auditor would compute the amounts of individual transactions and reconcile the same 

with the amount given in the ledger. 

5. Formulation of conclusions on the fulfillment or other wise of audit objectives for the 

selected sub-system.  

OPENING BALANCES AND  COMPARATIVES  

Opening Balancesô are those account balances which exist at the beginning of the period.  

They are based on the closing balances of the preceding period and therefore reflect the 

transactions of preceding periods and accounting policies applied in those periods.  The audit 

team should obtain relevant, reasonable and competent audit evidence that amounts derived 

from preceding periodôs financial statement are free from material misstatements (which 

materially affect the current periodôs financial statements) and that appropriate accounting 

policies are constantly applied, or where changes have been, they are properly disclosed.  

óComparativesô are the corresponding amounts and other related disclosures from the 

preceding period which are part of current periodôs financial statements.  Except where prior 

period adjustment or change in accounting policy, the opening balances should be consistent 

with preceding periodôs closing balances.   The audit team should obtain evidence that: 

¶ The accounting policies used for comparatives are consistent with those of the current 

period, or, where this is not the case, the appropriate adjustment and disclosure has 

been made. 

¶ The comparatives agree with the amounts and disclosures made in the preceding 

period and are free form material misstatements in the context of current periodôs 

financial statements. 

¶ Where the comparatives have been adjusted to take into account of any relevant 

legislation, accounting standards, rules and instructions, appropriate disclosures have 

been made in the financial statements. 

Normally in the majority of circumstances, the financial statements of the preceding periods 

would have been audited by Comptroller and Auditor General of India and there may not be 

prior period adjustments.  In such cases audit team must rely on the audit work in the 

preceding period and restrict audit procedure to checking that account balances have been 




